Structure, Recognition, and Processing of Cisplatin–DNA Adducts

Elizabeth R. Jamieson and Stephen J. Lippard*

Department of Chemistry, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139

Received April 29, 1999

Contents

1	Introduction	2467		
II.	DNA: The Biological Target of Cisplatin and	2468		
	Effects of Platination on Structure			
	A. Potential Cellular Targets for Cisplatin	2468		
	B. DNA Adducts Formed by Cisplatin	2469		
	C. Structural Studies of Cisplatin–DNA Adducts	2470		
	D. Alternative Cellular DNA Targets	2475		
III.	Effect and Consequences of Platinum on DNA Function	2476		
	A. Cisplatin Effects on DNA Replication	2476		
	B. Cisplatin Effects on DNA Transcription	2477		
	C. Cisplatin, Telomeres, and Telomerase	2480		
	D. DNA Damage and Apoptosis	2481		
IV.	How Cells Process Platinated DNA			
	A. Repair of Cisplatin–DNA Adducts	2481		
	B. Cellular Resistance to Cisplatin	2483		
	C. Effect on p53 and Cellular Response	2485		
V.	Cellular Proteins that Bind to Cisplatin–DNA Adducts			
	A. Repair Proteins	2486		
	B. HMG-Domain Proteins	2488		
	1. Nature of Binding to Platinated DNA	2488		
	2. Implications for the Mechanism of Action	2491		
	C. Transcription Factors Lacking an HMG Domain	2493		
	D. Architectural Proteins without an HMG Domain	2493		
VI.	Conclusions and Future Directions			
VII.	Acknowledgments			
VIII.	References			

I. Introduction

In the course of examining the effect of electric fields on the growth of Escherichia coli cells, a biological activity of platinum compounds was uncovered that led to the development of some of the most widely used anticancer drugs today.^{1,2} Compounds formed by reaction of platinum from the electrodes with ammonium chloride in the buffer stopped cell division and induced filamentous growth in the bacteria. Subsequent testing of these compounds in mice revealed antitumor activity.^{2,3} One of the more successful compounds, cis-diamminedichloroplatinum(II), or cisplatin, had been known since 1845,^{4,5} but not until 1970 was its antitumor activity established.^{2,3,6} Since this serendipitous discovery, cisplatin has been used to treat a variety of human malignancies.

Early clinical trials with cisplatin were promising, the one major drawback being severe renal toxicity that was ultimately overcome through hydration therapy and diuresis.⁷ Cisplatin was approved by the FDA in 1978, and the cure rate for testicular cancer is now greater than 90% when tumors are promptly diagnosed.⁸ Cisplatin is also used to treat other kinds of malignancies, including ovarian, cervical, head and neck, esophageal, and nonsmall cell lung cancer.⁹

The cisplatin treatment regimen generally involves a series of intravenous injections administered every 3-4 weeks at a dose of 50-120 mg/m^{2.9} Despite the great success at treating certain kinds of cancer, the drug does have some limitations. There are several side effects, and both intrinsic and acquired resistance limit the organotropic profile of the drug.

Over the years, various platinum complexes, some of which are shown in Figure 1, have been studied in an attempt to overcome these problems. Many of the compounds exhibiting antitumor activity have had two cis-amine ligands, and trans-diamminedichloroplatinum(II) (trans-DDP), the geometric isomer of cisplatin, is clinically ineffective. Carboplatin, cisdiammine-1,1'-cyclobutane dicarboxylate platinum-(II), has reduced toxicity but is cross-resistant with cisplatin.¹⁰ Oxaliplatin, *trans*-L-diaminocyclohexaneoxalatoplatinum(II), displayed a lack of crossresistance and has been used to treat colorectal cancer.^{11,12} Orally active platinum(IV) compounds that would broaden treatment conditions are also in development.¹³ In addition, recent work suggests that there may be some biologically active trans platinum compounds, including platinum(II) complexes with planar ligands,¹⁴⁻¹⁶ platinum(II) iminoether compounds,^{17,18} and *trans*-ammine(amine)platinum(IV) compounds.^{19–21} Over 3000 cisplatin analogues have been tested,²² with 28 platinum compounds, selected for some of the activities described above, having entered clinical trials.¹⁰ Unfortunately, most of these drug candidates have encountered difficulties in the clinic, perhaps due to the fact that a specific cellular target or mechanism was not used as the basis for drug design. It is estimated that more than 10 000 compounds need to be screened in order to obtain a new, effective anticancer drug.²³ The development of new antitumor platinum compounds will not be further addressed in this review because it is covered elsewhere in this issue.

Much research has been conducted over the ${\sim}35$ years following the discovery of biological activity for cisplatin in an attempt to elucidate its mechanism



Elizabeth R. Jamieson, a native of Uxbridge, MA, completed her B.A. degree (magna cum laude) from Smith College in 1994. At Smith, she performed research with Professor Robert G. Linck and received highest honors on her senior thesis entitled "Semiempirical Molecular Orbital Študy of Sulfur-Sulfur and Sulfur-Oxygen Compounds." She was a recipient of the CRC Press Introductory Chemistry Award, the Catherine D. Sessions Scholarship, the Barry M. Goldwater Excellence in Education Foundation Scholarship, and the American Chemical Society Award in Analytical Chemistry and was elected to Phi Beta Kappa and Sigma Xi. She is currently working on her Ph.D. in inorganic chemistry at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology in the laboratory of Professor Stephen J. Lippard, where her research focuses on the interaction of cisplatin-modified DNA with cellular proteins. At MIT, she received an award for outstanding teaching and has been supported by a Department of Defense National Science and Engineering Graduate Fellowship and an ACS Division of Medicinal Chemistry Predoctoral Fellowship. She plans to pursue postdoctoral research with Professor Thomas Tullius at Boston University. Her pastimes include spending time with her family and friends, finding new ways to amuse her cat, cooking, reading, and quilting.



Stephen J. Lippard is the Arthur Amos Noyes Professor and Head of the Chemistry Department at MIT. His research interests center around the role of metal ions in biology, with particular focus on platinum anticancer drugs, dimetallic centers in hydroxylases and metallohydrolases, and metal ions in neuroscience. He is an Associate Editor of the Journal of the American Chemical Society and has coauthored a book on bioinorganic chemistry with Jeremy Berg. He is a member of the National Academy of Sciences, the Institute of Medicine, and the American Academy of Arts and Sciences. For relaxation he enjoys running along the Charles River, playing the harpsichord, and being with his family and extended family, the latter of whom include present and past members of his research group.

of action. A major focus of this work has been DNA, the biological target of the drug, and examining the effects of cisplatin adduct formation on DNA-dependent cellular functions. The identification of proteins that mediate the biological response of cells to cisplatin has been a topic of current interest. The present review examines aspects of these investiga-



Figure 1. Structures of some platinum compounds investigated for biological activity.

tions and, after discussing mechanistic issues that are not fully resolved, looks to future directions of research.

II. DNA: The Biological Target of Cisplatin and Effects of Platination on Structure

After the discovery of the anticancer properties of cisplatin, work began to investigate its mechanism of action. One of the first issues that needed to be settled was its biological target, for there are many cellular components that can react with cisplatin. Studies eventually focused on the nature of platinum binding to DNA.

A. Potential Cellular Targets for Cisplatin

Following injection into the bloodstream, cisplatin encounters a relatively high concentration of chloride ions (100 mM) that suppresses hydrolysis and maintains the compound in a neutral state. The limiting factor for accumulating platinum in cells is its concentration, and the uptake of cisplatin is not saturable.^{24–27} Cisplatin uptake does not have a pH optimum nor is it inhibited by structural analogues, such as carboplatin or *cis*-Pd(NH₃)₂Cl₂, suggesting that the transport is not carrier-mediated.²⁸ These results indicate that cisplatin enters cells by passive diffusion, although there is some evidence that uptake may in part occur by an active transport mechanism.²⁹ Once inside the cell, the diminished chloride ion concentration (~20 mM) facilitates hydrolysis. The result is an activated, aquated form, cis-[Pt(NH₃)₂Cl(OH₂)]⁺, which can react more readily with cellular targets.

Many cellular components including RNA, proteins, DNA, membrane phospholipids, and microfilaments that make up the cytoskeleton react with cisplatin. The first clue for identifying the principal cellular target was the filamentous growth of the bacteria induced by cisplatin, a phenomenon characteristic of DNA–damaging agents such as UV radiation, ionizing radiation, and hydroxyurea.^{30–32} Cisplatin treatment also led to lysis of *Escherichia coli* cells containing bacteriophage λ ,³³ another result shared by DNA–damaging agents. These early experiments pointed to DNA as an important cellular target.

An examination of the inhibitory effects of platinum compounds on DNA, RNA, and protein synthesis provided additional information about the cellular target of cisplatin. The incorporation of radiolabeled precursors into RNA, DNA, and proteins was studied in both human amnion AV₃ cells in vitro and Ehrlich ascites tumor cells in vivo.^{34,35} DNA synthesis was selectively inhibited compared to protein and RNA synthesis. The amount of platinum bound to these macromolecules was examined in HeLa cells in conjunction with a colony-forming assay.³⁶ The number of platinum atoms bound when the surviving fraction of cells was reduced by a given amount was determined for DNA, RNA, and proteins. These results indicated that 22 platinum atoms were bound per DNA molecule compared to one Pt per mRNA, one per 30 rRNA, one per 1500 tRNA, and one per 1500 protein molecules. In a more recent study, the number of platinum atoms binding to DNA, RNA, and protein molecules was measured in HeLa cells treated with ^{195m}Pt-radiolabeled cisplatin at its mean lethal concentration.³⁷ Cells were then fractionated, and the number of platinum atoms bound to each macromolecule was calculated. The results showed that 1 out of 3 \times 10⁴ to 3 \times 10⁵ protein molecules contained a platinum atom, whereas between one in 10 and one in 1000 RNA molecules contained a platinum atom. In contrast, the DNA had nine platinum atoms bound per molecule, further indicating it to be the important cellular target. Other studies have examined the effects of cisplatin on repair-deficient *E. coli* and human cells.^{38–44} In these experiments, the repair-deficient mutants were more sensitive to cisplatin treatment compared to the wildtype cells. These results suggested that cisplatin damages DNA in these cells and that their differential ability to repair this damage leads to differences in cisplatin sensitivity.

This experimental evidence provides a strong case that DNA is the primary target of cisplatin in cells and has directed the mainstream of research accordingly. There is some evidence to suggest that non-DNA targets may be involved, and this topic has recently been reviewed.⁴⁵ Cisplatin interacts with phospholipids and phosphatidylserine in membranes,^{46,47} disrupts the cytoskeleton,⁴⁸ and affects the polymerization of actin, presumably because of conformational changes resulting from the formation of Pt–S bonds.⁴⁹ The preference for Pt–N bond formation in the presence of S-donor ligands in cells is discussed elsewhere in this issue. Thus, although there is some evidence to suggest that other biological targets may be important in the cisplatin mechanism, it is generally accepted that DNA is the primary target, and research in this area has predominated.

B. DNA Adducts Formed by Cisplatin

Once DNA was established as the primary target of cisplatin in cells, details of the binding interaction were investigated to characterize the types of adducts formed. Figure 2 illustrates structurally characterized binding modes. Bifunctional adducts involving either intrastrand or interstrand cross-links on DNA or protein–DNA cross-links were thought to be



Figure 2. Diagram of cisplatin–DNA adducts. A depicts a 1,2-intrastrand cross-link,^{87,88} B a 1,3-intrastrand cross-link,⁹⁵ and C an interstrand cross-link.⁹⁶ Monofunctional adducts and protein–DNA cross-links can also be formed.

important for biological activity because [Pt(dien)-Cl]⁺ and related inactive compounds only bind in a monofunctional manner.⁵⁰ Enzymatic digestion of cisplatin-treated salmon sperm DNA followed by chromatographic separation of the products and ¹H NMR analysis allowed the identification of the major DNA adducts formed by cisplatin.⁵¹ The major products were 1,2-intrastrand cross-links involving adjacent bases, with cis-[Pt(NH₃)₂{d(GpG)}] (cis-GG) comprising 47-50% of the adducts formed and *cis*- $[Pt(NH_3)_2{d(ApG)}]$ (*cis*-AG) comprising another 23-28%. In addition, 8-10% of the digested products contained 1,3-intrastrand cross-links involving nonadjacent guanines (cis-GNG) and interstrand adducts, and another 2-3% of the products was the result of monofunctional binding to guanine.⁵¹ In all cases, platinum was bound to the N7 atom of purine bases. In a similar study of DNA modified by [3H]-[Pt(en)Cl₂], a compound expected to have a similar adduct profile to cisplatin, there were 65% cis-GG adducts, 25% cis-AG, and 6% cis-GNG adducts.52

The results of these in vitro experiments provided evidence that the 1,2-intrastrand cross-links were the major adducts formed by cisplatin. By using immunochemical methods, the DNA adduct profile in cisplatin-treated cells was examined. A study using white blood cells taken from cancer patients treated with cisplatin displayed a similar adduct profile to the in vitro studies described above.⁵³ For one patient, there were 65% *cis*-GG adducts and 22% *cis*-AG adducts present. In another study, the level of intrastrand adducts measured in cells of patients treated for ovarian and testicular cancer was correlated to treatment response.^{54–56}

One of the interesting differences between cisplatin and its clinically ineffective isomer, *trans*-DDP, is their ability to form different types of DNA crosslinks. Both compounds form bifunctional DNA adducts, binding to the N7 positions of guanine and adenine. trans-DDP is unable to form 1,2-intrastrand d(GpG) or d(ApG) adducts, however, due to its stereochemistry.⁵⁷ Enzymatic digestion studies of DNA treated with trans-DDP, similar to the ones with cisplatin described above, indicated the main products to be 50% *trans*- $[Pt(NH_3)_2\{d(GMP)\}$ d(CMP)], 40% *trans*-[Pt(NH₃)₂{ $d(GMP)_2$], and 10% trans-[Pt(NH₃)₂{d(GMP)}{d(AMP)}].⁵⁸ In the product containing cytosine, the platinum coordinated to the N3 position of the base. These results reflect formation of 1,3-intrastrand and interstrand cross-links.

Experiments have demonstrated that cisplatin binding to DNA is kinetically rather than thermodynamically controlled. As mentioned above, a chloride ligand hydrolyzes when cisplatin enters cells, forming *cis*-[Pt(NH₃)₂Cl(H₂O)]⁺. This hydrolysis reaction is the rate-limiting step for DNA binding, the half-life being $\sim 2 \text{ h}^{59-61}$ Aquated cisplatin subsequently binds to an N7 atom of a guanine base in DNA, which displaces the water molecule in a relatively fast reaction step ($t_{1/2} \sim 0.1$ h), forming a monofunctional adduct.^{59,61} Closure of the monofunctional adduct to form a bifunctional adduct involves hydrolysis of the second chloride ligand, with a halflife of $\sim 2 \text{ h}^{.59,61}$ Interestingly, the first hydrolysis step

and subsequent binding of both cisplatin and trans-DDP to DNA to form monofunctional adducts occur at a similar rate. The rate of closure to form a bifunctional adduct, however, is controversial. Some studies revealed rates to be similar for the two compounds ($t_{1/2} \sim 3$ h),⁵⁹ whereas others determined that trans-DDP forms bifunctional adducts much more slowly.^{62,63} Differences in the rate of closure could explain the different biological activities of the two compounds. The discrepancy in closure rates to form trans-DDP bifunctional adducts may reflect differences in the samples used; the length of the DNA duplex and the presence of nearby platinum adducts can affect the rate of closure.63 At low platination levels, closure to bifunctional adducts appears to occur slowly ($t_{1/2} > 24$ h), implying that this difference, which may derive from the inability of trans-DDP to form 1,2-intrastrand cross-links, may contribute to the different clinical responses of these two compounds.63

The results of the experiments just described suggest that the 1,2-intrastrand adducts of cisplatin may be important to its anticancer activity. Not only are these major adducts formed both in vitro and in vivo, but the failure of clinically inactive compounds to form such cross-links is also a notable difference. Another indication that these adducts are important comes from the positive correlation of the level of these cisplatin adducts to treatment response. Therefore, many studies have focused on examining their structure and biological activity in order to determine the role they may play in the cisplatin anticancer mechanism.

C. Structural Studies of Cisplatin–DNA Adducts

The formation of cisplatin–DNA cross-links structurally distorts the DNA. Initial work showed that cisplatin binding could unwind DNA and, at saturation levels, shorten the duplex by up to 50%.^{64–66} The formation of these adducts also results in a loss of helix stability, as demonstrated by calorimetric studies on calf thymus and linearized plasmid DNA⁶⁷⁻⁶⁹ and gradient denaturing gel electrophoresis studies of the *cis*-GG adduct.⁷⁰ Further calorimetric experiments with site-specific cisplatin-DNA adducts revealed a duplex destabilization of 6.3 kcal/mol associated with *cis*-GG adduct formation.⁷¹ The identity of the bases flanking the platination site has very recently been shown to modulate the extent of this destabilization.⁷² Much work has been performed to learn about the structure of the various cisplatin-DNA adducts and has been recently reviewed.^{73,74}

Early structural studies used NMR and X-ray crystallography to examine single-stranded DNA fragments containing a cisplatin adduct.⁵⁰ X-ray crystallography revealed the nature of the *cis*-GG cross-link on the dinucleotide $d(pGpG)^{75.76}$ and trinucleotide d(CpGpG).⁷⁷ The d(pGpG) structure, shown in Figure 3, has the two guanine rings oriented in a "head-to-head" configuration, with the two O₆ atoms on the same side of the platinum coordination plane. The dihedral angle between the guanine rings ranges from 76° to 87°, reflecting destacking of the bases. Another notable feature of this structure is that one



Figure 3. Stereoview of a MOLSCRIPT³²⁹ representation of the X-ray crystal structure of *cis*-[Pt(NH₃)₂{d(pGpG)}].^{75,76}

of the platinum ammine ligands is hydrogen bonded to an oxygen atom on the 5'-phosphate group. This interaction may be an important feature, potentially stabilizing these DNA adducts. NMR work combined with molecular mechanics calculations on duplex DNA containing a cisplatin 1,2-intrastrand d(GpG) adduct showed that the adduct caused the helix to bend ~60° toward the major groove.^{78–80} More recently, a novel "head-to-head" conformer of the d(GpG) cross-link was identified in studies with [Pt-(2,2⁷-bipiperidine)Cl₂] by using NMR, HPLC, and mass spectrometric methods.⁸¹ The major difference between the two d(GpG) conformers is the propagation direction of the phosphodiester linkage (Figure 4). Molecular mechanics and dynamics calculations indicate that, although it is possible for this new conformer to form with cisplatin, it is unlikely to exist in a duplex at low temperature. It is hypothesized that the conformer could potentially be important in mutational events, duplex breathing, or duplex interactions with cellular proteins.

Gel electrophoresis studies were also employed to gain structural information about the various sitespecific cisplatin–DNA adducts. The first studies used multimers of a 22-bp oligonucleotide containing a 1,2-intrastrand d(GpG) cisplatin cross-link.⁸² These experiments showed the DNA to bend ${\sim}40^\circ$ in the direction of the major groove and were extended to examine the DNA bending and unwinding induced by other adducts of cisplatin and *trans*-DDP.^{83,84} The cis-GG and cis-AG cross-links bent the helix by 32°-34° and unwound it by 13°, whereas the cis-GNG adduct bent DNA by $\sim 35^{\circ}$ and unwound it by 23°. Although, the 1,3-intrastrand d(GpNpG) adduct of trans-DDP bent the DNA, a flexibility was imparted to the DNA which acted like a hinge joint without producing a directed bend. In similar studies performed with interstrand cross-links formed by cisplatin binding to two guanines, the DNA was bent by ${\sim}45{-}55^\circ$ toward the major groove and unwound by ${\sim}79^\circ.^{85,86}$

This work was followed by several high-resolution X-ray and NMR structural studies of the cisplatin adducts (see Tables 1 and 2). Figure 5 presents the 2.6 Å resolution X-ray crystal structure of a DNA dodecamer containing a 1,2-intrastrand d(GpG) cisplatin adduct.^{87,88} The helix bends by \sim 50° toward



Figure 4. View of the two head-to-head conformers of *cis*-[Pt(2,2'-bipiperidine){d(GpG)}]. Reprinted with permission from ref 81. Copyright 1998 American Chemical Society.

the major groove, and the dihedral angle between the guanine bases is 30°, considerably less than in the d(pGpG) structure mentioned above. One of the ammine ligands bound to platinum is hydrogen bonded to a phosphate oxygen, as seen previously. The base pairs at the platination site are propeller twisted, but retain their hydrogen bonds. The platinum atom is displaced from the planes of the guanine rings by \sim 1 Å, resulting in a strained environment.

Table 1. Selected Structural Features of Cisplatin–DNA Adducts

DNA sequence	method	bend angle (deg)	average helical twist ^e (deg)	Pt site	unwindingª (deg)	ref
d(CCTCTG [*] G [*] TCTCC)• d(GGAGAC C AGAGG)	X-ray	39–55	32	major groove	nd	87,88
d(CCTCTG [*] G [*] TCTCC)• d(GGAGAC C AGAGG)	NMR	78	27	major groove	nd	89
d(CCTG [*] G [*] TCC)• d(GGAC C AGG)	NMR	58	25 ^{<i>b</i>}	major groove	21	90
d(GACCATATG [*] G [*] TC)• d(GACCATATG [*] G [*] TC)	NMR	40	nd	major groove	nd	91
d(CTCTCG [*] G [*] TCTC)• d(GAGACC G AGAG)	paramagnetic NMR	~80	26 ^{<i>b</i>}	major groove	nd	93
d(CTCA [*] G [*] CCTC)• d(GAGG CT GAG)	NMR and molecular modeling	55	nd	major groove	nd	94
d(CTCTAG [*] TG [*] CTCAC)• d(GTGAGC AC TAGAG)	NMR	20–24	nd	major groove	19	95
d (CCTCG [*] CTCTC)• d (GAGAG [*] CGAGG)	X-ray	47	nd	minor groove	70	98
d(CATAG [*] CTATG)• d(CATAG [*] CTATG)	NMR	20	nd	minor groove	~80	96
d (CCTCG [*] CTCTC)• d (GAGAG [*] CGAGG)	NMR	40	nd	minor groove	76	97

^a Values not determined are denoted as nd. ^b Value taken from ref 74.

 Table 2. Structural Parameters for X-ray and NMR Solution Structures of DNA Duplexes Containing the

 1,2-Intrastrand d(GpG) Cisplatin Adduct (adapted from ref 74)

	X-ra	у		NMR	
parameter	refs 87,88	ref 295 ^a	ref 89	ref 90	ref 93
DNA length (bp)	12	16	12	8	11
DNA form	A/B junction	В	В	В	В
minor groove width (Å)	9.5 - 11.0	5.5 - 12.0	9.4 - 12.5	4.5 - 7.8	9.0 - 12
minor groove depth (Å)	3.0	na	1.4	3.2	2.1
average P–P distance (Å)	5.5	na	6.8	6.8	6.8
dihedral angle between platinated bases (deg)	30	75	47	59	58
average helical twist (deg)	32	33	27	25	26
DNA bend ^b (deg)	39 and 55	61	78	58	81

The overall conformation of the DNA is a fusion of the A-form and B-form structure types, possibly as a consequence of crystal packing forces. The DNA has a wide and shallow minor groove, an important recognition element for protein binding (vide infra).

The structure of DNA containing 1,2-intrastrand d(GpG) cisplatin adducts has also been determined by NMR methods (see Table 2). In an interesting comparison to the X-ray study just described, the NMR solution structure of the same platinated DNA dodecamer was determined (Figure 6).⁸⁹ Here the overall helix bend was 78°, and the dihedral angle between adjacent guanine bases was 47°. These values are larger than observed for the X-ray structure, reflecting the influence of crystal packing in the

latter study. The base pairing at the site of platination is also more distorted in the NMR solution structure. The platinum is displaced by 0.8 Å from the planes of the guanine rings. The DNA has a flat, wide minor groove, and in general, the global curvature of the helix is very similar to that of the duplex in the X-ray crystal structure. The NMR solution structure of an octamer duplex with a 1,2-intrastrand d(GpG) cisplatin adduct has also been reported.⁹⁰ This helix has the DNA bent by 58° toward the major groove, and the dihedral angle between the guanine base planes is 59°. The platinum is displaced from the planes of the guanine bases, and the minor groove is widened, although not to the same extent as in the dodecamer structures. Finally, the NMR solution



Figure 5. Stereoview of a MOLSCRIPT³²⁹ representation of the X-ray crystal structure of d(CCTCTG*G*TCTCC)·d(GGAGACCAGAGG) containing a *cis*-GG adduct, where G* denotes the location of platinated nucleotides.^{87,88}



Figure 6. Stereoview of a MOLSCRIPT³²⁹ representation of the NMR solution structure of d(CCTCTG*G*TCTCC)· d(GGAGACCAGAGG) containing a *cis*-GG adduct, where G* denotes the location of platinated nucleotides.⁸⁹

structure of a palindromic dodecamer DNA probe with two 1,2-intrastrand d(GpG) adducts positioned to be 180° apart from each other in B-form DNA was determined.⁹¹ Each *cis*-GG adduct bends the DNA by ~40°, and the helix axis is dislocated by ~13 Å.

In the traditional NMR studies described above, distance constraints from nuclear Overhauser effect (NOE) data are used in the structure determination. The NOE data provide short-range distance (≤ 5 Å) information, which is useful for addressing local geometry but not for providing any information about

long-range interactions which may be important in determining the structure of a biomolecule. To address this issue, a paramagnetic moiety can be incorporated into a macromolecule to afford long-range (10-30 Å) electron-proton distance constraints. Toward this end, a cisplatin analogue containing a 4-amino-TEMPO (4-amino-2,2,6,6-tet-ramethylpiperidinyloxy, free radical) ligand was prepared to study the structure of the *cis*-GG adduct. In preliminary work, the binding of this compound to d(GpG) was investigated, and the NMR spectrum



Figure 7. Stereoview of a MOLSCRIPT³²⁹ representation of the NMR solution structure solved with paramagnetic constraints of d(CTCTCG*G*TCTC)·d(GAGACCGAGAG) containing a *cis*-[Pt(NH₃)(4-aminoTEMPO){d(GpG)}] cross-link, where G* denotes the location of platinated nucleotides.⁹³



Figure 8. Stereoview of a MOLSCRIPT³²⁹ representation of the NMR solution structure of d(CTCTAG*TG*CTCAC)· d(GTGAGCACTAGAG) containing a *cis*-GTG adduct, where G* denotes the location of platinated nucleotides.⁹⁵

was analyzed to produce a structure comparable to the X-ray structure of cisplatin bound to d(pGpG).⁹² The strategy was then applied to investigate an undecamer DNA duplex containing a *cis*-GG adduct (Figure 7).⁹³ In the resulting structure, the helix bend angle is ~80°, and there is a wide minor groove, similar to that in the X-ray and NMR structures of the dodecamer. The use of the long-range distance constraints resulted in more information about the conformation of the DNA, especially at the 5'-end of the duplex. The structure determined by this methodology is similar to that of the dodecamer, as determined by X-ray crystallography, and those of the dodecamer and octamer, as revealed by NMR spectroscopy.

Although most of the structural work has been performed on DNA containing the major *cis*-GG adduct, there have also been studies of other cisplatin



Figure 9. Stereoview of a MOLSCRIPT³²⁹ representation of the NMR solution structure of d(CATAG*CTATG)· d(CATAG*CTATG) containing a cisplatin interstrand cross-link, where G* denotes the location of platinated nucleotides.⁹⁶

adducts (see Table 1). Whereas no high-resolution structure is available, there is some geometric information for a nonanucleotide containing a 1,2-intrastrand d(ApG) cisplatin adduct. NMR data suggest that this oligonucleotide is kinked at the platination site in a manner similar to that observed for a *cis*-GG adduct, and the minimized structure in molecular modeling studies indicates that this duplex bends by \sim 55° toward the major groove.⁹⁴ The 1,3-intrastrand d(GpNpG) cisplatin adduct has also been studied by NMR methods (Figure 8).⁹⁵ The structure of a 13-bp probe containing a 1,3-intrastrand d(GpTpG) adduct shows a very small global helix curvature of $\sim 20^{\circ}$ -24°. The helix is unwound by $\sim 19^\circ$. Unlike the structures of the 1,2-intrastrand adducts, the base pairing around the cisplatin adduct is severely disrupted. The significant structural differences between this adduct and the major cisplatin 1,2-intrastrand adducts suggest that their biological processing will be different.

The interstrand DNA cross-link formed by cisplatin has also been a subject of study by NMR and X-ray methods. To date, the NMR structures of two different DNA decamers containing interstrand crosslinks, where the platinum is bound to two guanine bases, have been determined.^{96,97} One of these structures is illustrated in Figure 9.96 A surprising feature of these structures is that the cis-diammineplatinum-(II) moiety is located in the minor groove. The interstrand adduct unwinds the DNA by $\sim 80^{\circ}$ in both structures, and the helix bends by ${\sim}2\check{0^{\circ}}{-}40^{\circ}$ toward the minor groove. The X-ray crystal structure of one of these decamers has been determined at 1.63 Å resolution.98 The unusual placement of the cis-diammineplatinum(II) moiety in the minor groove of the DNA observed in the NMR determination is also observed in this crystal structure. The DNA helix is bent by 47° toward the minor groove and is unwound

by 70°. Interestingly, the X-ray crystal structure of a DNA base excision repair product of the G:T/Uspecific mismatch DNA glycosylase (MUG) has a very similar structure to that of the duplex containing the cisplatin interstrand cross-link.⁹⁹ Base excision is used to repair different types of DNA damage, including uracil bases, alkylated purines, and GT mismatches. The N-glycosidic bond is hydrolyzed by a DNA glycosylase, releasing the damaged base, a process followed by excision of the abasic sugar ring. The similarity of these structures suggests that cisplatin interstrand cross-links might be recognition elements for proteins that recognize extrahelical nucleotides or abasic sites in DNA, such as mismatch repair proteins¹⁰⁰ or AP endonucleases.^{101,102} This hypothesis has not yet been evaluated experimentally.

The high-resolution structures of the various cisplatin–DNA adducts just described definitively reveal their propensity to distort DNA in very different ways. The major 1,2-intrastrand cross-links afford a bent, unwound duplex with a widened, shallow minor groove unlike that displayed by the minor cisplatin adducts. Their disparate structural features suggest different roles for these various adducts in mediating the antitumor properties of cisplatin.

D. Alternative Cellular DNA Targets

Most cisplatin research has focused on its ability to modify genomic DNA (gDNA) in the nucleus. Recently an alternative cellular DNA target has been identified which could potentially play a role in the cisplatin mechanism. Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), which lacks histones,¹⁰³ has been targeted by DNA– damaging agents such as methylnitrosourea, aflatoxin B1, and bleomycin.^{103–105} A study in Chinese hamster ovary cells used a dissociation-enhanced lanthanide fluoroimmunoassay, DELFIA, and immunoelectron microscopy to determine the levels of cisplatin–DNA adducts.¹⁰⁶ There was a 6- and 4-fold higher proportion of adducts in mtDNA, compared to gDNA, as revealed by the DELFIA and microscopic methods, respectively. Similar results occurred in rat and monkey tissues after transplacental cisplatin exposure.^{107,108} The preference for mtDNA was later attributed both to higher initial binding and to the lack of removal of the cisplatin–DNA adducts.¹⁰⁹ The persistence of cisplatin adducts on mtDNA may be due to the inability of mitochondria to perform nucleotide excision repair, a major pathway for removing cisplatin damage in gDNA.¹⁰⁴ Thus, cisplatin binding to mtDNA may contribute to its anticancer mechanism.

III. Effect and Consequences of Platinum on DNA Function

The ability of cisplatin to bind to DNA and distort its structure suggested that it would interfere with the normal functioning of this important cellular component. DNA replication and transcription are essential for cell division and protein production; any disruption in these processes would be cytotoxic. For these reasons, the effects of platination on DNA function have been extensively investigated with the aim of better understanding the biological activity of this drug.

A. Cisplatin Effects on DNA Replication

The inhibition of DNA synthesis by cisplatin was discovered early and suggested DNA to be the principal cellular target of the drug. Replication is an essential cellular process that involves unraveling of double-stranded DNA from chromatin, separation of the duplex strands, and the synthesis of new DNA using the original strands as templates. DNA polymerases are integrally involved in this process. The inhibition of replication by cisplatin suggested that it might kill cancer cells by blocking their ability to synthesize new DNA required for division. With the use of salmon sperm DNA or $poly[d(A-T)\cdot d(A-T)]$ as a template, the activity of partially purified human DNA polymerases α and β and Rauscher murine leukemia virus reverse transcriptase was inhibited when the DNA was modified with cisplatin or *trans*-DDP.¹¹⁰ The amount of platinum bound per nucleotide required to inhibit 50% of the activity was 2-7fold less for cisplatin compared to trans-DDP, depending on the DNA source. A similar study used an in vitro T7 DNA replication system to reveal that cisplatin inhibited DNA replication better than trans- $\hat{\text{DDP}}$ by \sim 5-fold.¹¹¹ The $\hat{\text{DNA}}$ template in this study was incubated with cis- and trans-DDP for 3 h at 37 °C, which may not be a long enough for trans-DDP to form bifunctional adducts.^{62,63} The ability of cisplatin to block DNA replication in these early experiments suggested that this activity may be important to the mechanism of cytotoxicity.

Further studies used the large (Klenow) fragment of DNA polymerase I and a single-stranded M13 mp8 DNA template to examine second-strand synthesis as a model for DNA replication.¹¹² Both cisplatin and trans-DDP blocked DNA synthesis in a sequencespecific manner, with cisplatin preferring all $(dG)_n$ $(n \ge 2)$ sites. *trans*-DDP was less selective, with d(GpNpG) sequences being the most prevalent. The [Pt(dien)Cl]⁺ cation, which can only form monofunctional DNA adducts, did not block DNA synthesis. The results of this study were extended in later work to investigate the GC box element of simian virus 40 (SV40) DNA, which contains tandem repeats of the sequence GGGCGG that proved to be a good target for cisplatin.¹¹³ The GC box is important for viral DNA replication and for expression of the viral transforming gene. The ability of cisplatin to stop DNA polymerase I at the GC box implies that it may be able to target similar sequences in retroviruses and oncogenes, contributing to the activity of the drug. In fact, cisplatin-resistant mutants of SV40 were isolated that had acquired specific deletions within the GC box region.¹¹⁴ This sequence-specificity of DNA synthesis inhibition was similar when using enzymes from prokaryotes and eukaryotes; E. coli DNA polymerase I blocked synthesis on singlestranded, cisplatin-treated DNA at similar sites to DNA polymerase α from *Drosophila melanogaster* embryos or calf thymus.^{115,116} In these studies cis-GG adducts, formed by global platination of the DNA, inhibited replication better than cis-AG adducts.¹¹⁶ DNA polymerase ϵ , isolated from calf thymus, was also blocked by cisplatin, and its adducts were suggested to interfere with the DNA repair functions of this enzyme.¹¹⁷

The effect of cisplatin on DNA replication was examined by using the SV40 chromosome in green monkey CV-1 cells.¹¹⁸ Fourteen times more *trans*-DDP than cisplatin was required to inhibit DNA replication to the same extent in this system. At doses producing equal amounts of DNA replication inhibition, however, the amount of platinum bound per SV40 DNA was identical for trans-DDP and cisplatin. Similar results were obtained for SV40 replication using extracts from human HeLa and 293 cells.¹¹⁹ One explanation for the higher dose of trans-DDP required to produce the same amount of inhibition is that DNA adducts formed by the two compounds are differentially repaired.¹¹⁸ Experiments in HeLa and 293 cells revealed enhanced repair activity selective for trans-DDP-modified DNA consistent with this idea,¹¹⁹ but other studies with Chinese hamster and African green monkey cells were unable to find evidence for the selective repair of trans-DDP adducts.¹²⁰ Another difference between cisplatin and trans-DDP was detected in a study examining various functions of *E. coli* DNA polymerase I,¹²¹ an enzyme having DNA synthesis, 3'-5'-exonuclease proofreading, and 5'-3'-exonuclease repair activities. Both the initial rate and total excision were inhibited for the 5'-3'-exonuclease with cisplatin treatment, whereas with *trans*-DDP the activity was basically unaffected. It was suggested that this difference could explain the higher concentrations of trans-DDP needed to inhibit bacterial growth compared to cisplatin.

M13 genomes site-specifically modified with cisplatin were used to assess the ability of different



Figure 10. Gel electrophoresis data obtained during a kinetic study of the effect of a *cis*-GG adduct on DNA polymerization by HIV-1 reverse transcriptase. Panel A shows fragments generated by enzymatic replication of a 44-bp ³²P-end-labeled DNA duplex containing a site-specific *cis*-{ $Pt(NH_3)_2$ }²⁺ cross-link at G(24)/G(25). Polymerization is blocked by platination of the substrate. Panel B depicts results for an unmodified DNA probe. Similar results were seen with T7 DNA polymerase. Reprinted with permission from ref 123. Copyright 1999 American Chemical Society.

cisplatin-DNA adducts to block replication in vitro.¹²² This study examined the *cis*-GG, *cis*-AG, and cis-GNG adducts and employed a number of different DNA polymerases, including DNA polymerase I, bacteriophage T7 DNA polymerase, bacteriophage T4 DNA polymerase, Taq polymerase, and DNA polymerase III. The results indicated that, on average, the polymerases were able to bypass the cisplatin adducts ${\sim}10\%$ of the time. The cis-GG adduct was the most inhibitory lesion. The frequency of replication bypass varied for the different polymerases, with bacteriophage T4 DNA polymerase being the most strongly inhibited. For this enzyme, all of the cisplatin adducts were bypassed only $\sim 2\%$ of the time. The results of this study showed that polymerases can bypass cisplatin adducts and suggested that the drug may induce mutagenesis through such replication bypass.

Kinetic studies of the effect of a cis-GG adduct on DNA polymerization were recently undertaken by using single turnover kinetic methods.¹²³ Both T7 DNA polymerase and HIV-1 reverse transcriptase activities exhibited strong pauses during DNA synthesis at sites corresponding to one nucleotide preceding the first platinated guanine residue and at the positions opposite the two platinated guanines (Figure 10). DNA polymerization occurred with biphasic kinetics. A small amount of DNA was productively bound and able to undergo fast polymerization. The majority of the population bound in a nonproductive manner, leading to slow polymerization. The distortion of DNA base pairs at the site of platination was suggested to alter the alignment of DNA in the binding site of the T7 DNA polymerase, slowing the protein conformational change necessary for polymerization. The binding of the next correct nucleotide was also affected by the presence of the cisplatin adduct.

The results of the studies discussed above demonstrate that cisplatin can affect DNA replication. When similar amounts of platinum are bound in a bifunctional manner to the DNA, however, there does not appear to be large difference between cisplatin and the clinically inactive *trans*-DDP. Rather, differences in the concentrations of the compounds required to inhibit DNA replication appear to be the result of differential cellular processing. Thus, whereas inhibition of DNA replication may be part of the cisplatin mechanism, it cannot fully explain the anticancer properties of the drug.

B. Cisplatin Effects on DNA Transcription

Studies designed to investigate the relationship between the inhibition of DNA synthesis, cytotoxicity, and cell cycle progression suggested that cisplatin might inhibit DNA transcription.^{124,125} Transcription is the cellular process whereby mRNA is produced from a DNA template, a critical step in protein synthesis. In these studies, cells treated with cisplatin progressed through the S phase, where DNA synthesis occurs, and were arrested in the G₂ phase (Figure 11).^{124,125} This G₂ arrest was temporary for cells treated with low concentrations of cisplatin, but cells treated with higher doses remained in G₂ arrest



Figure 11. A representation of the cell cycle. G_1 is the first gap phase, S is the DNA synthesis phase, G_2 is the second gap phase, and M is mitosis. This figure is based on one in ref 330.



Figure 12. Correlation of IC_{50} with LC_{50} from the EGFP reporter gene assay. LC_{50} is the concentration of compound that kills 50% of the cells, and IC_{50} is the concentration of compound that reduces EGFP expression by 50% of the control value. Reprinted with permission from ref 139. Copyright 1999 Elsevier Science Ltd.

until cell death occurred. Work using DNA excision repair proficient and deficient Chinese hamster ovary cells was performed in order to study the relationship between DNA replication and cellular toxicity.¹²⁵ In these studies, inhibition of DNA synthesis depended only on cisplatin concentration and was not related to the sensitivity of the cell line to cisplatin, demonstrating that replication inhibition did not correlate directly with cisplatin toxicity. The ability of cisplatin to arrest the cell cycle in G_2 , however, was related to the sensitivity of the cell line. The repair deficient cells were arrested in G₂ at lower cisplatin concentrations than the repair proficient cells. These results are consistent with the hypothesis that G₂ arrest results from the inability of the cells to transcribe genes necessary to enter mitosis. The ability to perform DNA repair removes cisplatin adducts that block transcription, allowing cell cycle progression. The results of these experiments indicated that cisplatin cytotoxicity might be due to more than simple inhibition of DNA synthesis and implicated DNA transcription in the anticancer mechanism.

The ability of specific cisplatin adducts to inhibit transcription was studied more directly in later work using wheat germ RNA polymerase II and E. coli RNA polymerase.^{126–128} Transcription elongation was blocked for these polymerases by the *cis*-GG, *cis*-AG, cis-GNG, and cisplatin interstrand cross-links. Neither trans-DDP nor monofunctional adducts could provide an absolute block for these enzymes. In other experiments, transcription by T7 and SP6 RNA polymerases from a template DNA restriction fragment modified with cisplatin was examined.¹²⁹ These enzymes were also blocked at cis-GG and cis-AG sites. The ability of cisplatin adducts to inhibit RNA polymerase II initiation and elongation in human cell extracts has recently been reported.¹³⁰ Initiation of transcription was inhibited by increasing concentrations of cisplatin. The presence of cisplatin-DNA damage on an exogenous plasmid inhibited transcription initiation from an undamaged template. This result is consistent with the hypothesis that proteins

necessary for transcription to occur may be hijacked away from their normal binding sites by cisplatindamaged DNA. The ability of RNA polymerase II to bypass site-specific cisplatin–DNA adducts during transcription elongation was also examined. Here, the polymerase was able to bypass the *cis*-GG adducts, whereas it was blocked by *cis*-GNG adducts. This unexpected result was not obtained with T3 RNA polymerase, which was blocked effectively by both types of cisplatin cross-link. Further investigation of the relative abilities of cisplatin–DNA adducts to block transcription by mammalian RNA polymerases seems warranted.

The regulation of gene expression by cisplatin has also been studied. Test expression genes were introduced by transient transfection into CV-1 monkey cells.131 When the cells were treated with cisplatin, there was a strong differential inhibition of the genes. Different promoters were studied, and stronger inhibition was observed for the stronger promoters. Both strong and weak promoters were equally insensitive to transcription inhibition by trans-DDP. In similar experiments with transient and stably transfected HeLa cells, expression from some of the weaker promoters was strongly induced, whereas the stronger promoters were strongly inhibited.¹³² These results suggest that the strong promoters are associated with accessible chromatin and therefore more easily modified by cisplatin. The expression of the CAT reporter gene from the human immunodeficiency virus 1 long terminal repeat (HIV-1 LTR) sequences was stimulated by cisplatin in rat and human fibroblasts by 22- and 2.2-fold, respectively.^{133,134} Carboplatin, a cisplatin analogue (Figure 1), does not show this effect, due to differences in the kinetics of hydration of the two compounds.¹³⁵

The effects of cisplatin and *trans*-DDP on transcription were investigated by transfecting a plasmid containing the β -galactosidase reporter gene that had been modified by the compounds into human and hamster cell lines.¹³⁶ The level of transcription of the *trans*-DDP-modified plasmid was 2–3-fold higher



Figure 13. Uptake and the conversion of CCF2/AM to CCF2 in cells. In the presence of β -lactamase, CCF2 is cleaved to produce blue fluorescence. Treatment of cells with cisplatin blocks expression of β -lactamase and prevents cleavage of CCF2, resulting in green fluorescence.

than with the cisplatin-modified probe. Experiments performed in nucleotide excision repair (NER) deficient cell lines showed the same results, suggesting that the difference between the two compounds was not a consequence of differential NER of the adducts. These studies revealed that a 4-fold higher level of trans-DDP adducts is needed to inhibit RNA synthesis to an extent comparable to that of the cisplatin adducts, and the bypass efficiency of the RNA polymerase II was significantly higher ($\sim 60-76\%$) for the trans-DDP adducts compared to the cisplatin adducts $(\sim 0-16\%)$. Other experiments examined the effect of cisplatin on hormone induced transcription from the mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV) promoter which was stably incorporated into murine tumor cells.137 Cisplatin inhibited the expression of the MMTV promoter in this system, presumably by altering the chromatin remodeling and loading of transcription factors that occur with the response of this promoter. trans-DDP did not similarly inhibit transcription. In additional studies where the MMTV promoter was transiently transfected into the cells, cisplatin blocked the binding of transcription factor NF1. The results of these experiments suggest that

cisplatin may affect transcription by blocking transcription factors from binding and altering chromatin structure.

The ability of cisplatin to alter the normal binding of transcription factors has also been observed in work using a reconstituted system for measuring ribosomal RNA (rRNA) synthesis.¹³⁸ When pBR322 plasmid modified with cisplatin was added to this system, rRNA transcription was inhibited. This inhibition was correlated with the removal of the transcription factor, human upstream binding factor (hUBF), from its normal binding site on the rRNA promoter to the cisplatin-modified pBR322 plasmid. hUBF is a member of the HMG-domain family of proteins that bind specifically to cisplatin-modified DNA. This topic is addressed in more detail below.

The ability of cisplatin to inhibit transcription has recently been used as a method to screen rapidly for the potential antitumor activity of various platinum compounds. A HeLa Tet-on cell line was stably transfected with the enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) under the control of the tetracyclineresponsive element (TRE).¹³⁹ Treatment of these cells with cisplatin causes a dose-dependent decrease in



Figure 14. Results of the β -lactamase-CCF2/AM assay (see Figure 13). Panel A depicts Jurkat cells expressing β -lactamase treated with CCF2/AM. Panel B depicts Jurkat cells treated with cisplatin and CCF2/AM. Cisplatin treatment inhibits the expression of β -lactamase and causes the cells to have green fluorescence. Panel C depicts Jurkat cells treated with *trans*-DDP. This compound does not affect expression of β -lactamase, and the cells emit blue fluorescence. Reprinted with permission from ref 139. Copyright 1999 Elsevier Science Ltd.



Figure 15. The effect of different platinum compounds on the expression of β -lactamase in the Jurkat cell assay (Figures 13 and 14) can be measured by examining the ratio of blue and green fluorescence in cells. This plot depicts the blue to green emission ratio for a few platinum compounds and shows cisplatin to be the most effective at inhibiting β -lactamase expression. Reprinted with permission from ref 139. Copyright 1999 Elsevier Science Ltd.

EGFP expression, presumably due to transcription inhibition, which can be monitored by using the fluorescent signal. A number of biologically active and inactive platinum compounds were screened with this assay. The results (Figure 12) show a striking correlation between the LC_{50} , the concentration of compound where 50% of the cells are dead, and the IC_{50} , the concentration of compound where gene expression is 50% of that of the control, demonstrating the potential utility of this mechanism-based screen. A similar assay uses the gene for β -lactamase stably transfected into a Jurkat cell line as a reporter. In this system, a fluorescent compound, CCF2-AM, is introduced into cells and converted into CCF2 by intracellular esterases (Figure 13).¹⁴⁰ In the presence of β -lactamase, CCF2 is cleaved and emits blue rather than green light. Cells treated with cisplatin have reduced expression of β -lactamase and revert

to green (Figure 14). By measuring the emission ratio of blue and green light, the inhibition of β -lactamase can be quanitated for a number of different platinum compounds (Figure 15). Both of these assays have the advantage of being rapid compared to cytotoxicity assays and allow for convenient monitoring of the transcription inhibition through fluorescent signal changes. In addition, they highlight how understanding aspects of the cisplatin anticancer mechanism, such as transcription inhibition, can lead to advances in the methodologies used to develop new platinum anticancer drugs.

C. Cisplatin, Telomeres, and Telomerase

The telomeric regions of DNA represent a very appealing target for cisplatin and may interfere with normal DNA function. Telomeres occur at the ends of eukaryotic chromosomes and consist of a tandem, G-rich repeat sequence. In humans, the sequence is 5'-TTAGGG-3'.141,142 Part of their function is to protect the ends of the chromosomes from degradation and to ensure that the genetic information is properly inherited at each cell division.¹⁴³ During one cell division, telomeres are shortened by 50-200 bp.^{144–146} When they become critically shortened, cells become senescent and die. One way cells can become immortalized is to counteract the shortening of the telomeres with the ribonucleoprotein telomerase. Telomerase synthesizes these repeat sequences at the ends of chromosomes and is postulated to play a role in the growth of malignant tumors.^{147–149} Since the telomere-repeat sequences contain many guanosine residues, they represent a promising potential target for cisplatin.

Telomere loss in HeLa cells treated with cisplatin has been studied recently.¹⁵⁰ The results of these experiments demonstrated that telomeres in the cisplatin-treated cells were shortened and degraded. At low doses of cisplatin, telomere loss was sufficient to cause lethal damage in ~61% of the cells. In another study, cisplatin inhibited telomerase activity in testicular cancer cells, whereas other DNA– damaging agents such as bleomycin and *trans*-DDP had no effect.¹⁵¹ Cisplatin has the potential not only to interact with the G-rich telomere region of the chromosome but might bind to the RNA or protein component of telomerase. It could also effect telomerase expression. The results of the studies described above suggest that cisplatin can interfere with the normal functions of telomeres and telomerase, indicating a potential role in the anticancer mechanism. Much more work is required, however, to evaluate this possibility.

D. DNA Damage and Apoptosis

Studies that demonstrated the ability of cisplatin to arrest murine leukemia L1210 and Chinese hamster ovary cells in G₂ phase led not only to the conclusion that cisplatin could block transcription but also provided information about the mechanism of cell death.^{124,125} Cells treated with low concentrations of cisplatin recovered from G₂ arrest, whereas cells treated with higher concentrations of the drug had only a limited number of survivors.¹²⁴ The appearance of DNA double-strand breaks was the first detectable sign of cell death in these experiments, with the accumulation of debris on the flow cytometer and loss of trypan blue exclusion occurring later. Upon further investigation, the DNA double-strand breaks in L1210/0 cells were located in the nucleosome spacer region of chromatin DNA. These breaks appeared as "nucleosome ladders" in gel electrophoresis studies, identifying the mechanism of cell death to be apoptosis.152

Apoptosis, or "programmed cell death," is characterized by cell volume reduction, convolution and blebbing of the cell surface, chromatin condensation with activation of an endogenous endonuclease, recognition by phagocytic cells, and dependence on active protein synthesis.¹⁵³ The process occurs during embryonic development, metamorphosis, and general cell turnover.¹⁵⁴ As mentioned above, detection of nucleosome ladders in the L1210/0 cells was the first clue that cisplatin treatment induced cell death by apoptosis. Cell shrinkage and surface blebbing were also observed in that study.¹⁵² Similar DNA fragmentation and cell shrinkage was seen with Chinese hamster ovary cells.¹⁵⁵ Treatment of cells with cycloheximide inhibited DNA fragmentation and cell death, consistent with new protein synthesis being required for the process to occur. Taken together, these results provided evidence that cisplatin can induce cells to undergo apoptosis and exposed a mechanism by which drug treatment kills cells.

IV. How Cells Process Platinated DNA

Not only is it important to understand how cisplatin inhibits normal gene function, but active cellular processing of cisplatin-modified DNA also contributes to the mechanism of action of this drug. Understanding how cells respond to cisplatin DNA damage may also provide the knowledge required for improved platinum chemotherapy.

A. Repair of Cisplatin–DNA Adducts

Studies that provided evidence for DNA as the primary target of cisplatin in cells also indicated how cisplatin–DNA adducts were processed. In particular, the cells deficient in DNA repair were much more sensitive than cells proficient in repair.^{38–44} The increased sensitivity of the repair mutants implied that DNA was the target of the drug. This effect was not observed with trans-DDP.42 In one study both nucleotide excision and recombination repair mutants were examined, suggesting that these pathways might be important in removing platinum adducts from DNA.³⁸ The ability of cells to modulate cisplatin toxicity through repair mechanisms indicated that this function might be important in the cellular processing of platinated DNA. The role of DNA repair in the cisplatin mechanism has been reviewed recently.156,157



Figure 16. A schematic diagram of nucleotide excision repair of a cisplatin–DNA cross-link. The DNA damage is recognized by XPA, RPA, and XPC–HR23B (C). TFIIH binds forming a preincision complex. XPG makes the 3'-incision, and the 5'-incision is made by XPF–ERCC1 ((F) and (1), respectively). Once the damage is excised, the DNA is filled in by polymerases and ligases in a PCNA dependent process.

Cisplatin–DNA adducts are repaired in cells primarily through the nucleotide excision repair (NER) pathway.¹⁵⁸ This process involves many proteins and is used to repair a variety of DNA lesions, including damage caused by UV radiation. In eukaryotes, the DNA damage is excised as a \sim 24–32-mer polynucleotide fragment,¹⁵⁹ whereas in prokaryotes the damage is removed as a $\sim 12-13$ -mer oligonucleotide.¹⁶⁰ The genetically inherited human disease xeroderma pigmentosum (XP) results from defects in NER.^{159,161} Because of the inability to perform nucleotide excision repair, individuals with XP are extremely sensitive to UV radiation and have a predisposition toward skin cancer. XP has seven different genetic complementation groups, XP-A through XP-G, and a variant form, XP-V. The XP-A through XP-G groups are each deficient in a different component of the excision repair pathway. XP cells have an increased sensitivity to cisplatin treatment, providing further evidence that this pathway is important in the cellular processing of the drug.¹⁶²⁻¹⁶⁴

The mechanism of nucleotide excision repair is well-characterized (Figure 16), due in part to the availability of the different XP complementation groups (for recent reviews see refs 159–161). The first step involves recognition of DNA damage. The proteins XPA, RPA, and XPC have all been implicated in this process. These proteins bind to damaged DNA, but the order of their participation in the excision repair process is controversial. The XPC-HR23B protein complex was identified as the initial damage recognition protein in experiments that examined the rate of nucleotide excision repair while varying the order of addition of the proteins.¹⁶⁵ Similar types of experiments have produced contradictory results, indicating that it is an XPA-RPA complex that first recognizes DNA damage.¹⁶⁶ After the damage recognition step, TFIIH is recruited, forming a preincision complex with XPA, RPA, and XPC-HR23B. XPG binds and makes an incision spaced by 2-10 nucleotides to the 3'-side of the damage.¹⁶⁰ Very soon thereafter, the XPF-ERCC1 complex binds and makes a second cut 20-26 nucleotides to the 5'-side of the damage.¹⁶⁰ Once the piece of damaged DNA has been excised, the proteins dissociate, and the gap is filled in and closed by DNA polymerases and ligases. This repair synthesis step depends on proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) and is carried out by DNA polymerases δ and ϵ . Several of the proteins involved in NER bind specifically to cisplatin-damaged DNA, a topic that will be discussed below.

As the effects of platinum compounds on DNA replication were being investigated, it was noted that cisplatin adducts accumulated on DNA continuously, whereas adducts of *trans*-DDP reached a maximum after a certain incubation period and decreased dramatically thereafter.¹¹⁸ This effect was attributed to differential repair of the adducts rather than differential uptake of the compounds. The repair of cisplatin adducts has been studied more directly by using reconstituted repair systems. Nucleotide excision repair in *E. coli* has been extensively characterized. The activity results from three subunits, UvrA,

UvrB, and UvrC, together referred to as the ABC excinuclease,160 which excises cis-GG adducts from DNA restriction fragments modified with cisplatin.⁴² DNA modified with trans-DDP produced a nonspecific cutting pattern, similar to that of an unmodified control. Extensions of this work demonstrated that the frequency of incisions by the ABC excinuclease was greater with cisplatin adducts than for trans-DDP adducts.⁴⁴ When plasmids damaged with the two compounds were transformed into various strains of repair proficient and deficient strains of *E. coli*, the uvrB gene was found to be essential for repair of cisplatin-damaged DNA, indicating NER to be the primary pathway for repair of these adducts.⁴⁴ The results of these experiments were consistent with the suggestion that *trans*-DDP adducts are repaired by a different cellular mechanism.

The development of an in vitro repair synthesis assay using mammalian cell extracts allowed further investigation of the repair of cisplatin-DNA adducts. Initial work demonstrated that plasmid DNA modified with either cisplatin or trans-DDP was repaired in this assay.¹⁶⁷ Cell extracts prepared from various XP cell lines did not exhibit repair synthesis, as would be expected owing to their deficiencies in NER.^{167,168} Plasmids modified with *trans*-DDP were better repaired than cisplatin-modified plasmids when this assay was performed with HeLa and 293 cell extracts.¹¹⁹ Repair synthesis was initially not observed with a plasmid containing a site-specific cis-GG adduct, suggesting that this adduct is poorly repaired in human cell extracts.¹⁶⁹ The repair synthesis activity could be detected for the cis-GG plasmid when it was preincubated with the E. coli UvrABC excinuclease, indicating that the human enzymes might not be able to make the necessary incisions on the damaged DNA.

When a different type of excision repair assay was used to study cisplatin adducts in vitro, the seeming inability of the *cis*-GG adduct to be repaired was not confirmed. Unlike the repair synthesis assay, which measures the incorporation of a radiolabel into damaged DNA compared to an undamaged control, the excision assay examines the release of the damaged \sim 26–32 nucleotide oligomer. Studies using both human cell free extracts and a reconstituted excinuclease revealed the cis-GTG adduct to be more efficiently repaired than either the cis-AG or cis-GG adduct.^{170,171} No repair was detected for a cisplatin interstrand cross-link. These results were subsequently confirmed with the repair synthesis assay, where the *cis*-GTG adduct was repaired \sim 15–20-fold better than the 1.2-intrastrand adducts.¹⁷² This repair profile had been observed previously for adducts of the cisplatin analogues [Pt(dach)Cl₂] and [Pt-(en)Cl₂] with the ABC excinuclease system.¹⁷³ The excision repair assay has also been used to examine the role of cellular proteins in modulating the repair of cisplatin adducts, as will be discussed.^{170,171}

The rate at which the cisplatin adducts are excised from DNA has also been investigated. Initial studies used various normal and repair-deficient human fibroblast cells to examine the rate of repair.¹⁶⁴ In normal and Fanconi's anemia (FA) fibroblasts, there

was a very fast initial removal of more than half the cisplatin adducts. In XP fibroblasts, however, this fast initial repair phase was absent, and there was a slow, gradual removal of the adducts. Later work using ABC excinuclease digestion demonstrated that cisplatin intrastrand adducts are removed faster from transcribed genes compared to nontranscribed genes and the overall genome.¹⁷⁴ Strand bias was also observed for these adducts, the intrastrand adducts being preferentially repaired from the transcribed strand.¹⁷⁵ These studies demonstrated that the cisplatin interstrand adducts are removed more efficiently from genes than intrastrand adducts, and there did not appear to be any preferential repair of the interstrand adducts from transcribed versus nontranscribed genes or DNA strands. These results for the cisplatin intrastrand adducts are consistent with the notion of transcription-coupled repair.¹⁷⁶

There are other cellular mechanisms, besides nucleotide excision repair, that can affect the cytotoxicity of cisplatin adducts. E. coli cells having mutations in either recombination or mismatch repair showed enhanced sensitivity to cisplatin, suggesting a potential contribution of these pathways.^{38,43} More recent studies have provided additional evidence for the participation of the mismatch repair system in processing cisplatin adducts (for a review of mismatch repair see ref 177). Human MutS α is a heterodimer of the proteins MSH2 and MSH6 (GTBP/ p160) involved in mismatch recognition, and both MutS α and MSH2 bind with some selectivity to DNA containing the *cis*-GG adduct.¹⁷⁸⁻¹⁸⁰ This preference was not observed for the cis-GTG adduct or for DNA adducts of [Pt(dien)Cl]+.178,179 hMSH2 is overexpressed in the testes and ovaries, two tumor types most effectively treated by cisplatin.¹⁷⁹ A loss of mismatch repair abilities was correlated with a 2.3fold gain of cisplatin resistance in some cell lines.^{177,181–186} Thus, whereas a larger body of evidence is required before mismatch repair can be proved to be important in the cisplatin anticancer mechanism, these initial results suggest that it may play a role in the cellular response to platinated DNA.

B. Cellular Resistance to Cisplatin

One of the main reasons for failure of cisplatin treatment is resistance of tumors to the drug. Resistance to cisplatin can either be intrinsic to cells or acquired through exposure to the compound. Some tissues are inherently resistant to cisplatin and do not respond to treatment. Other types of malignancies, such as ovarian cancer, may respond initially to cisplatin treatment but can acquire resistance to the drug over time. Because of its clinical importance, the mechanism of cisplatin resistance has been studied extensively (for reviews of this topic, see refs 158 and 187–189). Three main activities have been identified as potential responses that modulate the resistance. These include changes in intracellular accumulation of the drug, increased production of intracellular thiols to modulate toxicity, and increased capability of cells to repair cisplatin-DNA damage. Many studies have been performed in attempts to understand resistance, but the results are often contradictory, as will be shown below. Resistance of cells to cisplatin appears to be a multifactorial cellular response that makes it difficult to understand the process fully.

Cisplatin-resistant cell lines can be made through repeated exposure to the drug. Comparisons between the parental and resistant lines provide information about the mechanism of resistance. The level of platinum accumulation has been examined in several different cell lines having acquired cisplatin resistance, including human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, human small cell lung carcinoma, murine leukemia L1210, human T lymphocytes, human ovarian carcinoma, and human testicular nonseminomatous germ cells.¹⁹⁰⁻²⁰³ With the human head and neck squamous carcinoma cell line, the resistant cells had a reduced capacity to take up cisplatin, whereas release of the drug was similar to the parental cell line.¹⁹⁰ Studies in murine leukemia L1210 cells found varying results. Some cisplatin-resistant L1210 cells displayed a \sim 40-50% reduction in drug accumulation.^{191,194} In other studies, uptake was markedly reduced (36-60% and 3-fold in refs 26 and 192, respectively), while no difference in efflux of the drug was observed between the sensitive and resistant cell lines.^{26,192} The results of other experiments, however, demonstrated no significant differences in the amount of drug taken up by cell nuclei, and the amount of cisplatin bound to DNA was similar in sensitive and resistant L1210 cells.²⁰² Discrepancies in platinum accumulation were also observed in ovarian cell lines. The level of platinum accumulation was decreased by \sim 50% in one study,¹⁹³ and another showed a decrease that correlated with resistance.¹⁹⁶ Varying selection conditions produced differing results; one cisplatin resistant cell line showed a \sim 50% decrease in cisplatin accumulation, while another had the same amount of accumulation as the sensitive parental cell line.¹⁹⁵ In a different study, the rate of drug accumulation was similar to parental cells, but the resistant cell line was more efficient at effluxing cisplatin.¹⁹⁸ Human epidermoid KB carcinoma cells have enhanced efflux of cisplatin,²⁰⁴ and intracellular cisplatin accumulation was \sim 1.6-fold greater in a sensitive testicular nonseminomatous germ cell line.²⁰¹ For small cell lung carcinoma cells, no difference was found in platinum content between sensitive and resistant cells after correction for cellular protein and volume differences.²⁰³ Taken together, these studies suggest that, whereas decreased cellular accumulation due to either reduced uptake or enhanced efflux may play a role in cisplatin resistance, it is clearly not a consistent feature of this phenotype.

Another cellular response that can modulate cisplatin resistance is to increase the level of intracellular thiols that can react with and inactivate cisplatin. Glutathione (γ -glutamylcysteinylglycine, GSH) is the most abundant thiol in cells, found at concentrations of 0.5–10 mM.¹⁵⁸ This tripeptide is synthesized in a two-step pathway that is ATP-dependent. The enzyme γ -glutamylcysteine synthetase is involved in the first step and can be inhibited by D,Lbuthionine-(*S*,*R*)-sulfoximine (BSO). The second step uses the enzyme glutathione synthetase to complete the peptide synthesis. Many studies have been performed to determine whether an increase in glutathione levels causes cisplatin resistance in different cell lines.

In a resistant human small cell lung carcinoma line, the amount of GSH and the total amount of sulfhydryl compounds was increased compared to the parental, sensitive line.²⁰³ The results in ovarian carcinoma cell lines were variable. An increase in GSH levels in resistant cell lines occurred in some cases²⁰⁵⁻²⁰⁷ and was correlated with the sensitivity of different ovarian cell lines.²⁰⁸ In a different study, GSH levels were not increased in one cell line at low levels of cisplatin resistance (2-3-fold) but were elevated by 30% at higher (9-fold) levels of resistance.¹⁹⁵ A different cell line in that study demonstrated a 2.3-fold increased level of GSH at a 13-fold increase in cisplatin resistance. For both of these cell lines, the resistance to cisplatin could be partially reversed through depletion of GSH by addition of BSO.

The level of GSH was found to fluctuate in some ovarian cell lines over time.²⁰⁹ In another study, resistant ovarian carcinoma cells had similar levels of GSH as the parental line, and the addition of BSO did not increase the sensitivity of the cells to cisplatin.²¹⁰ Two studies of cisplatin resistant murine leukemia L1210 cells demonstrated increased levels of GSH.^{191,211} The addition of BSO to these cell lines caused different responses, with one cell line increasing its sensitivity to cisplatin,²¹¹ whereas BSO had no effect on the other.¹⁹¹ Finally, a study in human colon carcinoma cells noted about a 3-fold increase in GSH in cisplatin resistant cells,²¹² but studies with human testicular nonseminomatous germ cells observed no difference in GSH levels between sensitive and resistant cells.²⁰¹ The sum of the evidence from these investigations indicates that an increase in GSH levels is likely to be a factor involved in cisplatin resistance, but not an absolute requirement.

Another intracellular thiol that could play a role in cisplatin resistance is metallothionein. This protein consists of $\sim 61-62$ amino acids, 20 of which are cysteine, and is presumed to take part in the detoxification of heavy metal ions in cells.¹⁵⁸ In a study of a variety of tumor cell lines with acquired cisplatin resistance, metallothionein was overexpressed.²¹³ A modest enhancement in metallothionein levels was also observed in a resistant human testicular nonseminomatous germ cell line.²⁰¹ Studies in human ovarian cancer cells showed variable expression of metallothionein, with different cell lines exhibiting different levels of resistance.²¹⁴ This work detected no relationship between metallothionein expression and cisplatin resistance. Studies examining the overall levels of total sulfhydryl content of resistant cells produced varied results. A human head and neck squamous carcinoma line showed a 2-fold increase in protein sulfhydryl content,¹⁹⁰ while no increase was observed in a study with murine L1210 cells.¹⁹² Thus, although there is not as much evidence for metallothionein participation in cisplatin resistance as for GSH, it is possible that this protein may

mediate the toxicity of this drug.

The final potential mechanism for cisplatin resistance to be discussed here is the ability of resistant cells to undergo enhanced DNA repair, which has been extensively investigated. Numerous experiments have revealed enhanced repair in cisplatinresistant cells, including studies in human ovarian cancer cell lines,^{197,198,206,215–218} murine leukemia L1210 cells,¹⁹⁴ Chinese hamster ovary cells,²¹⁹ and cells from a human malignant glioma.²²⁰ Whereas the ability of resistant cell lines to undergo enhanced repair appears to be a common theme in these various cell lines, increased repair did not always correlate with the level of cisplatin resistance.^{194,216,219} Often enhanced repair was suggested to be part of the resistance mechanism in conjunction with some other cellular response.^{194,198,218,220} Differential DNA repair has also been noted in samples taken from biopsies of patients with ovarian carcinoma who were not treated with cisplatin.²²¹ There is as much as a 10fold difference in the ability of these ovarian cells to repair DNA damage, suggesting that some tumors are intrinsically poor in repairing cisplatin lesions. A similar observation was made when examining a testicular nonseminomatous germ cell line.²⁰¹ Here, the difference in repair observed between cisplatinsensitive and -resistant cell lines was attributed to an inherent defect in the ability of the parental cells to repair platinum adducts from their DNA. Very recent work has provided evidence in support of this idea by demonstrating that the levels of the excision repair proteins XPA and the ERCC1-XPF complex are reduced in human testis tumor cell lines.²²² These results suggest a basis for the organotropic specificity of cisplatin. In addition to this work, some investigations have shown that DNA repair proteins, such as XPA, XPE, ERCC1, and DNA polymerase β , can be overexpressed in resistant cell lines.²²³⁻²²⁶ Taken together, these results suggest that enhanced DNA repair is an important aspect of cisplatin resistance. However, the studies examining increased cellular accumulation and intracellular thiol levels imply that it is unlikely that enhanced DNA repair alone is sufficient to effect cisplatin resistance. The pathways of increased intracellular platinum

accumulation, elevated levels of intracellular thiols, and enhanced DNA repair have been presumed to be important in cisplatin resistance, and many studies have examined their potential roles in this process. Other cellular responses may also be important in resistance. An interesting study was performed with EMT-6 murine mammary tumors that were made resistant to cisplatin in vivo.²²⁷ These tumor cells were then established in culture. Surprisingly, the cultured cells showed no signs of resistance, but resistance was re-established after implanting the cultured cells into mice. The results of this experiment suggest that some mechanisms of acquired resistance only occur in vivo. The loss of mismatch repair activity has also been observed in cisplatin-resistant cells.^{177,181-185} It was not determined exactly how loss of mismatch repair could contribute to cisplatin resistance, but it may prevent a futile cycle of DNA repair which results in apo-



Figure 17. A representation of some of the proteins and genes that may be influenced by p53 in a cellular response to cisplatin. The implications for cellular function are also listed.

ptosis, as discussed below.¹⁸² Loss of p53 function, which controls many cellular responses, has also been linked to cisplatin resistance.²²⁸⁻²³⁰ This topic is also discussed in more detail below. Another potential resistance mechanism is the increased ability of the cell to tolerate DNA damage.¹⁸⁹ It is not clear exactly how cells might gain tolerance to DNA damage, but some possibilities include the increased ability to bypass DNA adducts during replication or changes in the amount of DNA damage necessary to signal apoptosis. Studies in human ovarian carcinoma cells revealed a 2.3-4.5-fold increase in the replicative bypass ability of cisplatin-resistant cells.²³¹ Similar work discovered resistant murine leukemia cells to have an increased bypass ability as well.²³² Studies with ovarian cancer cells attributed part of the resistance mechanism to increased cellular tolerance of DNA damage,^{218,233} and in one of these studies, it was hypothesized that the cisplatin-resistant cells required higher levels of DNA damage to undergo apoptosis.²³³ Thus, from the experiments presented to date, the mechanism of cisplatin resistance appears to be complex and multifactorial. These studies provide insight into some of the possibilities, but more work will need to be done before this clinically important problem can be solved.

C. Effect on p53 and Cellular Response

The p53 protein has been well-studied, in part because of the high frequencies of mutations in the p53 gene in human cancers (for reviews, see refs 234–236). p53 is a transcription factor that is involved in the regulation of many genes including p21, MDM2, GADD45, cyclin G, and Bax.²³⁵ The activation of p53 due to DNA damage or other cellular stresses can result in cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. This response helps to maintain genomic stability, the loss of which can result in the development of cancer.²³⁶ Disruption of normal p53 function occurs in about half of human cancers, but testicular tumors, which are most successfully cured by cisplatin, do not generally contain mutated p53 genes.^{235,236}

The role of p53 in the cisplatin mechanism has been examined (for a review, see ref 157). As mentioned above, loss of p53 function confers resistance in some human ovarian cancer cell lines, presumably by interfering with the regulation of apoptosis.^{228–230} The conference of resistance by loss of p53 depends on the genetic context of the cell line.²²⁸ For example, a study in breast cancer MCF-7 cells, which do not readily undergo apoptosis following cell damage, demonstrated that disruption of p53 function sensitized the cells to cisplatin.237 Overexpression of a temperature-sensitive mutant form of p53 increased resistance in an ovarian cell line, and p53 was overexpressed during the development of resistance.²³⁸ The mechanism by which overexpression of p53 would confer resistance is unclear, but it may interfere with DNA repair capabilities or somehow enhance cellular tolerance to DNA damage.²³⁸ Finally, some studies suggest that cisplatin cytotoxicity is not influenced by p53. The presence of normal or mutant p53 in nine ovarian cancer cell lines did not affect the cisplatin cytotoxicity,²³⁹ and p53 mutation in mouse testicular teratocarcinoma cells did not confer resistance to those cells.²⁴⁰ Thus, the results of these selected studies show that, as with the other mechanisms of cellular resistance, p53 function may only be one of many factors that modulate cisplatin sensitivity, and the effects may be different for various cell types.

Because p53 controls the transcription of several genes, it could affect cellular responses to cisplatin indirectly through its regulation of other proteins (Figure 17). One of the proteins under the control of p53 is p21 (WAF1/Cip1). The p21 protein is involved in G_1 cell cycle arrest.^{234,235} Overexpression of p21 in glioblastoma cells conferred resistance to cisplatin.²⁴¹ These cells showed enhanced repair of DNA damaged with the alkylating agent 1,3-bis(2-chloroethyl)-1nitrosourea, suggesting that the presence of p21 arrests the cell cycle and allows repair of DNA damage, protecting the cell from apoptosis. The protective function of p21 was demonstrated in another study where human colon cancer cells containing a disrupted p21 gene were more sensitive to cisplatin.²⁴² The enhanced sensitivity was also seen in embryonic fibroblasts from p21 knockout mice.²⁴² The loss of p21 function in colon cancer cells impaired their ability to repair cisplatin-damaged CAT-reporter plasmids, suggesting that the p21 protection is related to DNA repair.

Aside from the p21 pathway, p53 could affect DNA repair through GADD45, another gene product that

it activates. Production of GADD45 is induced by DNA damage and can also lead to G_1 cell cycle arrest.^{234,235} GADD45 binds to the repair factor PCNA, potentially affecting nucleotide excision repair.^{234,235} Disruption of normal p53 function reduces repair of UV-damaged DNA, indicating that p53 or its gene products can affect the nucleotide excision repair pathway.²⁴³ Later work demonstrated a link to GADD45, because cells where expression of GADD45 was blocked by antisense vectors exhibited altered levels of DNA repair, and blocking GADD45 expression increased the sensitivity of cells to cisplatin.²⁴⁴ An additional link between p53 and NER has recently been hypothesized to occur through the XP gene, p48.²⁴⁵ The p48 gene is essential for binding UV-damaged DNA and is disrupted in the subset of XPE cells that lack this activity. p48 mRNA levels vary with p53 expression, being more prevalent in p53 normal cells compared to p53 mutants and increasing with raised p53 levels following UV irradiation. The ability of p53 to control levels of p48 suggests another pathway by which this protein could affect DNA repair.

p53 not only regulates genes that control the cell cycle and interfere with DNA repair, it also affects genes involved in the apoptotic response. p53 can stimulate the production of Bax, which promotes apoptosis, and it can also repress the production of Bcl-2, which inhibits apoptosis.²³⁴ The relative ratios and dimerization of such proteins is suggested to be important in regulating apoptosis.^{246,247} Both Bcl-2 and Bax have multiple isoforms, produced by alternative RNA splicing, that can have different functions and cellular localizations.²⁴⁷ Cisplatin resistant ovarian cancer cells have reduced levels of Bax mRNA, consistent with an ability to inhibit apoptosis.²³⁰ In other work, a 21 kDa Bax protein was upregulated in p53 functional cells after exposure to cisplatin, but levels of Bcl-2 and a 24 kDa Bax protein were unchanged.²⁴⁸ The 21 kDa Bax was not expressed constitutively in these cells, and it is possible that the 21 kDa protein that appears after drug treatment could be a cleavage product of the 24 kDa Bax protein.²⁴⁸ Alternatively, treatment with cisplatin could produce cellular conditions that favor the 21 kDa isoform of Bax over the 24 kDa form. Overexpression of Bcl-2 confers cisplatin resistance to cells, presumably through its ability to inhibit apoptosis.238,249,250

The involvement of p53 in the cellular processing of cisplatin may include interaction with other proteins in addition to its ability to regulate gene transcription. p53 interacts with high mobility group protein 1 (HMG1) and the TATA binding protein (TBP).^{251,252} Both of these proteins bind specifically to cisplatin-modified DNA, as discussed below. The presence of cisplatin–DNA adducts in cells could affect the interactions of these proteins and alter their natural functions. At present, there is no evidence to suggest that these protein interactions may participate in the cisplatin mechanism, but it is intriguing that proteins which specifically bind cisplatin-damaged DNA also have the potential to interact with the important transcriptional regulator p53.

V. Cellular Proteins that Bind to Cisplatin–DNA Adducts

Thus far, the effect of cisplatin on DNA function and some consequential cellular responses have been examined. The ability of cisplatin to inhibit replication and transcription is not absolute, suggesting that there must be other factors involved which lead to cell death. Identifying these factors and understanding how they cause cell death is crucial to unraveling the mechanism of action of cisplatin. Cellular proteins are likely to be involved in this process, and a search for proteins that can specifically bind to cisplatin-modified DNA was therefore undertaken. To date, many such proteins have been identified that share this property (Table 3), and mechanisms have been proposed for how they may effect a cytotoxic response (for a recent review, see ref 253).

A. Repair Proteins

One class of proteins that bind cisplatin-modified DNA are involved in repair, which is not surprising considering that cisplatin–DNA adducts are processed by the NER system. One of the first such proteins to be identified was XPE (UV-DRP),^{224,254} the role of which is still unknown. It consists of two subunits of 127 and 48 kDa molecular mass and binds damaged DNA.¹⁵⁹ XPE is not a component of the core nucleotide excision repair system, but may play an accessory role.¹⁵⁹ Cisplatin-resistant human tumor cell lines overexpress XPE and show enhanced DNA repair capabilities.²²⁴ XPE can also be induced by cisplatin treatment,²⁵⁵ the level of which correlated with cisplatin resistance and required de novo RNA and protein synthesis. Induction of XPE was attributed either to formation of platinum–DNA adducts or to inhibition of DNA replication.

The proteins XPA, RPA (single-stranded binding protein, SSB), and XPC-HR23B have been reported to recognize DNA damage in the nucleotide excision repair pathway (Figure 16). XPA consists of 273 amino acids, has a molecular weight of ${\sim}31$ kDa, and contains a zinc finger motif. 256,257 RPA is made up of three 70, 32, and 14 kDa subunits.²⁵⁸ These two proteins both bind individually and specifically to cisplatin-modified DNA,^{256,257,259-261} and they also cooperatively bind cisplatin-modified DNA.²⁶² The DNA binding domain of XPA has been determined.²⁶³ This truncated, 122 amino acid XPA fragment retains the ability to bind specifically to cisplatin-damaged DNA. RPA binds to DNA containing a cis-GNG adduct 1.5-2-fold better than to DNA containing a cis-GG adduct.²⁶¹ It has been hypothesized that RPA helps to denature the damaged DNA duplex and subsequently binds the resulting single-stranded DNA. The ability of XPC-HR23B to bind preferentially to cisplatin-damaged DNA has been demonstrated through coimmunoprecipitation assays.¹⁶⁵ Another protein involved in nucleotide excision repair is ERCC1. This protein forms a complex with XPF and helps to make an incision on the 5'-side of the

Table 3. Proteins that Bind to Cisplatin-Modified DNA

protein function		$K_{ m d}{}^a$	specificity $(\rho)^a$	ref
	Repair Proteins	_	_	
XPE (UV-DRP)	potential accessory role in nucleotide	nd	nd	224,254,255
XPA (xeroderma pigmentosum A	damage recognition protein in nucleotide	nd	nd	256.257.263
complementing protein)	excision repair			200,201,200
RPA (replication protein A, single	damage recognition protein in nucleotide	nd	4-6-fold	259,260
stranded binding protein, SSB)	excision repair	nd	nd	165
AFC-HK23D	excision repair	nu	nu	105
MutSa, MSH2	recognition component in mismatch repair	67 nM	nd	178-180
Ku autoantigen (DNA–PK)	takes part in V(D)J recombination and double-strand break repair	0.11 nM	nd	265,266
DNA photolyase	repair of cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers	50 nM	nd	267,268
T4 endonuclease VII	cleaves branched DNA structures	nd	nd	269
	HMG-Domain Proteins			
human SSRP1	involved in transcription elongation	nd	nd	271-273,312
T160	involved in V(D)J recombination	nd	nd	274
Drosophila SSRP1	unknown	nd	nd	275
HMG1	unknown	0.3–370 nM	100-fold	276,280-282
HMG2	unknown	0.2 nM	nd	276,281
Ixr1	transcription factor that regulates Cox5b promoter	250 nM	10-fold	283,285
HMG-D	Drosophila homologue of HMG1	200 nM	2-3-fold	286
mtTFA	mitochondrial transcription factor	$\sim 100 \text{ nM}$	nd	287
hUBF	ribosomal RNA transcription factor	60 pM	nd	288
tsHMG	unknown	24 nM	230-fold	289
SRY	sex determining factor	120 nM	20-fold	290
Cmb1	mismatch recognition factor	nd	nd	291
HMG1 domain A	one of two DNA binding domains of HMG1	$0.2 - 517 \text{ nM}^{b}$	2-1000-fold ^b	293.299
HMG1 domain B	one of two DNA binding domains of HMG1	48-1300 nM ^b	3-4-fold ^b	287.292.293
tsHMG domain A	one of two DNA binding domain from tsHMG	300 nM	20-fold	289
human SRY domain	DNA binding domain from SRY	4 nM	\sim 5-fold	290
mouse SRY domain	DNA binding domain from SRY	$1 \mu M$	nd	287
LEF-1 domain	DNA binding domain from LEF-1	$\sim 100 \text{ nM}$	nd	287
	Transcription Factors Lacking on HMC D	omain		
TATA hinding protoin	part of the basal transcription factor TEUD	nd	nd	208 218
VB-1	transcription factor	nd	nd	300,310
			iiu	0~1
TT: , TT4	Architectural Proteins without an HMG D	omain	,	004.005
Histone H1	linker histone	nd	nd	324,325
^a Values not determined are dem	oted as nd. ^b Dependent on flanking sequence	content. ²⁹³		

DNA damage (Figure 16).¹⁵⁹ ERCC1 expression levels are elevated in some cisplatin resistant cells,²²⁵ and the binding of XPA to damaged DNA is increased through interaction with ERCC1.²⁶⁴ These results suggest that ERCC1 may participate with XPA in the recognition of damaged DNA.

Proteins involved in the mismatch repair pathway also bind with some specificity to cisplatin-modified DNA. The recognition component of the mismatch repair pathway, MutS α , is a heterodimer comprising MSH2 and MSH6 (GTBP/p160). Normally, this complex binds to single base mismatches, loops of one base, and loops of two bases.¹⁸⁰ Both MutS α and its MSH2 component bind to cisplatin-modified DNA.^{178–180} The binding of MutS α was enhanced by the presence of a G:T mismatch at the guanine to the 3'-side of the 1,2-d(GpG) intrastrand cross-link.¹⁸⁰ Such a mismatch could occur if the damaged DNA had undergone replication.¹⁸⁴ It is interesting that MSH2 is overexpressed in testicular and ovarian tissues, which are most effectively treated by cisplatin.¹⁷⁹

As mentioned above, mismatch repair deficiencies have been noticed in some,^{181–185} but not all, cisplatinresistant cells. In fact, it has been suggested that treatment with cisplatin selects for cells with a preexisting mismatch repair defect.¹⁸⁶ One possible explanation for how loss of this activity could confer resistance is that the mismatch repair pathway could recognize a cisplatin adduct in the template strand and attempt to repair the newly synthesized, nonplatinated strand.¹⁸² This activity would result in a futile cycle, because the mismatch could never be repaired as long as the cisplatin adduct persisted (Figure 18). The futile cycle of repair has been hypothesized to generate a signal for apoptosis, although proof of such an activity is lacking. In resistant cell lines, a defect in mismatch repair would not allow this signal to be generated, enhancing cell survival.

Human Ku autoantigen, a component of the DNA– dependent protein kinase (DNA–PK), takes part in V(D)J recombination and double-strand break repair and binds to DNA damaged by cisplatin.²⁶⁵ DNA– PK is a heterotrimeric complex containing a dimeric DNA binding subunit, Ku, and a catalytic subunit, DNA–PK_{cs}.²⁶⁶ Normally, Ku binds to DNA, and the Ku–DNA complex activates DNA–PK_{cs} activity. The activated DNA–PK complex can phosphorylate a number of different proteins, including RPA, p53, and other transcription factors.^{265,266} When Ku binds to



Figure 18. A schematic diagram of how mismatch repair activity could promote apoptosis. The mismatch repair proteins could recognize the cisplatin adduct as a mismatch and attempt to repair it. As long the cisplatin adduct persists, the mismatch cannot be repaired, resulting in a futile cycle that could signal apoptosis.

cisplatin-modified DNA, DNA–PK_{cs} is not activated, potentially interfering with the regulation of transcription factors through phosphorylation.265 The mechanism for this inhibition has been studied. Ku binds to cisplatin-modified DNA nonspecifically. The affinity for cisplatin-damaged DNA is similar to that for undamaged DNA, and the ability of the protein to bind the cis-GG, cis-AG, and cis-GNG adducts was also similar.²⁶⁶ The degree of DNA-PK inhibition, however, varied with the nature of the cisplatin-DNA adduct. It was suggested that the different structures of the adducts interact differently with DNA-PK. This hypothesis was supported by the fact that the position of the platinum lesion on the DNA substrate also changed the degree of inhibition. This study concluded that the mechanism of DNA-PK inhibition was due to a large decrease in V_{max} and a small increase in $K_{\rm M}$.²⁶⁶

A DNA repair enzyme that binds to cisplatindamaged DNA is photolyase. Its binding specificity has been demonstrated with both yeast and E. coli photolyase.^{267,268} DNA photolyase is an enzyme that repairs cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers created by UV radiation. It occurs in E. coli, yeast, Drosophila melanogaster, fish, birds, and marsupial mammals, but has not been detected in humans.²⁶⁷ In the yeast study, the binding of photolyase sensitized the cells to the drug, possibly by blocking nucleotide excision repair or by creating a signal for cell death.²⁶⁷ The studies in E. coli showed the opposite effect, where the binding of photolyase stimulated the removal of the platinum lesion by a nucleotide excision repair pathway and made cells more resistant to cisplatin. The different effects in these two systems have not been explained, but may be due in part to differences in the nucleotide excision repair system between yeast and bacteria.

Finally, T4 endonuclease VII is an enzyme that cleaves branched DNA structures, including four-way DNA junctions.²⁶⁹ This enzyme is required in T4 infection to resolve branchpoints created by DNA replication, and it is present in many different organisms, including mammals.²⁶⁹ This enzyme binds and cleaves *cis*-GG and *cis*-AG adducts specifically.²⁶⁹ It has no effect on a *trans*-DDP 1,3-d(GpTpG) cross-link. T4 endonuclease VII cleaves DNA containing

cisplatin interstrand cross-links preferentially over DNA with interstrand cross-links of *trans*-DDP.²⁷⁰ It has been suggested that the specific structural distortions of the cisplatin adducts cause the recognition by this enzyme,²⁶⁹ however, the ability of this enzyme to recognize both 1,2-interstrand adducts and interstrand cross-links casts doubt on this hypothesis.

B. HMG-Domain Proteins

1. Nature of Binding to Platinated DNA

High mobility group (HMG) domain proteins represent a large family of proteins that bind specifically to cisplatin-modified DNA. The discovery of this binding ability was made approximately 10 years ago during a search for cellular factors that could play a role in mediating the cisplatin mechanism of action. Modified Western blots identified factors in HeLa cell extracts that bound preferentially to cisplatin-modified DNA.²⁷¹ This initial screen located species of ~ 100 and 28 kDa that bound to double-stranded DNA modified with cisplatin or [Pt(en)Cl₂], but not to DNA modified with *trans*-DDP or [Pt(dien)Cl]Cl, both inactive compounds. Experiments performed using HeLa and hamster V79 cell extracts identified a protein of \sim 91 kDa that bound to *cis*-GG and *cis*-AG adducts, but not to cis-GNG adducts or DNA modified by *trans*-DDP.²⁷² The presence of selective binding factors in cell extracts suggested that it would be possible to isolate cDNA clones encoding proteins with this ability. By screening of a human B-cell expression library, two such clones were obtained.²⁷¹ Northern blot analysis of one of these partial clones predicted that the molecular mass of the full-length protein would be 100 kDa. Further expression library screening with the partial clones led to the isolation of the full-length cDNA that predicted an \sim 81 kDa protein. This factor was called structure specific recognition protein 1 (SSRP1) and contained a domain that was 47% identical to a portion of the HMG-domain protein HMG1.273 Homologues of SSRP1 have been identified in both mouse and *Drosophila*.^{274,275} The mouse homolog, T160, is involved in V(D)J recombination, but the function of the *Drosophila* homologue is unknown. A different type of screen involving damaged DNAaffinity precipitation techniques isolated two proteins of 26.5 and 28 kDa that bound to cisplatin-modified DNA, but not to DNA modified by trans-DDP.276 These proteins were identified as HMG1 and HMG2 through amino-terminal sequence analysis. These initial experiments suggested that the family of HMG-domain proteins were strong candidates for binding preferentially to cisplatin-modified DNA and perhaps affecting its biological activities.

The HMG domain is a DNA-binding motif that consists of approximately 80 amino acids (for a review on HMG-domain proteins, see ref 277). A large superfamily of proteins contain this domain, including the prototypical members, the nonhistone chromosomal proteins, HMG1 and HMG2, as well as many transcription factors. Proteins in the family can contain multiple HMG domains and specifically recognize either DNA structures or sequences. They bind in the minor groove and bend DNA upon binding. The ability of HMG-domain proteins to recognize distorted structures suggests why they may be able to bind to cisplatin-modified DNA (for reviews, see refs 278 and 279).

Many experiments were performed once the HMGdomain proteins were identified in the initial screening studies. Recombinant rat HMG1 bound specifically to cisplatin 1,2-intrastrand adducts, but not 1,3intrastrand adduct or to trans-DDP modified DNA in gel mobility shift assays.²⁸⁰ Studies using damaged DNA affinity precipitation also demonstrated that HMG1 and HMG2 bound preferentially to cisplatinmodified DNA.²⁸¹ The binding of HMG1 has been correlated with the length of the duplex DNA probe and also with the extent of cisplatin damage, a higher affinity of protein binding occurring with multiple cisplatin adducts.²⁸² HMG1 has also been claimed to bind cisplatin interstrand cross-links, although this result is puzzling in view of the structurally disparate nature of this and the 1,2-intrastrand cross-links.²⁷⁰

Screening of a yeast cDNA library in experiments similar to ones described for human cells led to the discovery of a yeast HMG-domain protein, Ixr1, that also bound preferentially to the cisplatin 1,2-intrastrand adducts.²⁸³ Ixr1, also known as Ord1, is a transcription factor that binds to the Cox5b promoter and regulates transcription of an isoform of cytochrome *c* oxidase subunit V.²⁸⁴ Gel mobility shift assays showed Ixr1 to bind at least an order of magnitude more tightly to cisplatin-modified compared to unmodified DNA.²⁸⁵ The binding site of Ixr1 was revealed to be 15 bp in size centered around the platinum lesion through hydroxyl radical footprinting experiments.²⁸⁵

Aside from HMG1, HMG2, and Ixr1, many other HMG-domain proteins exhibit the same selectivity for cisplatin-DNA adducts. Some of these include HMG-D, a Drosophila homologue of HMG1;286 mt-TFA, a mitochondrial transcription factor;²⁸⁷ hUBF, a ribosomal RNA transcription factor;288 tsHMG, a testis-specific HMG protein;289 SRY, the sex-determining factor;²⁹⁰ and Cmb1, a yeast protein with mismatch-binding activity.²⁹¹ Perhaps most interesting on this list are tsHMG and SRY, owing to the sensitivity of testicular tumors to cisplatin. SRY is a human protein responsible for testis formation, and it has also been detected at the mRNA level in adult testis.²⁹⁰ tsHMG is a mouse protein expressed in the nuclei of spermatocytes and elongating spermatids.²⁸⁹ The sequence of this protein is nearly identical to that of mouse mtTFA. To date there is no human homolog. The binding affinity and specificity of tsHMG for cisplatin-modified DNA are much higher than for other HMG-domain proteins that have been studied.289

As mentioned above, HMG-domain proteins can contain multiple, usually tandem, HMG domains. The HMG domain is believed to be the DNA-binding element. Studies have been performed to look at individual domains binding to cisplatin-modified DNA. HMG1 contains two HMG domains, A and B, both of which bind preferentially to platinated DNA.^{292,293} HMG1 domains A and B give the same DNase I footprint, both covering 15 nucleotides in the platinated strand and 12 residues in the complementary strand.²⁹⁴ Hydroxyl radical footprinting with HMG1 domain A produces a different result with the protein protecting five bases on the platinated strand and four on the complementary strand.²⁹⁵ This footprint is offset to the 3'-side of the cis-GG adduct, whereas the DNase I footprint is centered at the platination site. The discrepancies between these two experiments may reflect differences in the methods used. The size of the protected region in a DNase I footprint can be overestimated because the enzyme contacts two phosphate groups on each side of the hydrolyzed bond and two on the opposite strand across the minor groove.²⁹⁶ In addition, DNase I prefers to cleave at the 5'-side of pyrimidines and between bonds with a high local twist angle.²⁹⁷ More detailed structural studies, such as those discussed below, are required to resolve this issue.

Studies using HMG domains from tsHMG, SRY, and LEF-1 have demonstrated that these HMG domains can also bind specifically to cisplatin-modified DNA.287,289,290 There is an important caveat in drawing conclusions from these studies, however. Recent work established that the sequence context surrounding the cisplatin adduct and the composition of the HMG domain itself can dramatically change the binding affinity for cisplatin-modified DNA.²⁹³ For example, alteration of the nucleotides flanking a cis-GG adduct changed the binding affinity of HMG1 domain A by up to 2 orders of magnitude, and the binding of HMG1 domain A was 100-fold stronger than the binding of HMG1 domain B. In view of these results, much of the earlier work would have to be repeated with more careful control of the nature of the platinated DNA probe. The binding studies with the isolated HMG domains described above were performed by using gel mobility shift assays. The binding of these proteins has also been studied by using damaged DNA-affinity precipitation assays. Under these experimental conditions, the two individual domains of HMG2 bound weakly to cisplatinmodified DNA in the presence of 0.5 M NaCl, but a protein fragment containing both domains in tandem bound with high affinity.²⁹⁸ Similar findings were reported with this assay for the HMG domains from HMG1, where the binding of the individual domains was abrogated by concentrations of NaCl greater than 0.3 M.299

These experiments demonstrate that, under some conditions, individual HMG domains bind cisplatinmodified DNA as well as the full length proteins. This result cleared the way for some meaningful structural work to be performed. Shorter peptide fragments are more amenable for use in such studies compared to full length protein, and any interactions observed with the isolated domains could be considered relevant to the binding of the full length protein. NMR solution structures of HMG1 domains A and B have been solved.^{300–302} As indicated in Figure 19 for HMG1 domain B, both domains A and B have three α -helices forming the shape of an L with the angle between its arms being ~80°.



Figure 19. A MOLSCRIPT³²⁹ representation of the NMR solution structure of HMG1 domain B.³⁰¹

Later structural work showed the L-shaped α -helical fold to be common among HMG domains. Some of the first high-resolution structural studies of HMGdomain protein-DNA complexes were performed with the sequence-specific HMG-domain proteins. NMR solution structures were solved for the HMG domains of the proteins LEF-1 and SRY bound to their DNA target sequences.^{303,304} In these structures, the L-shaped proteins bound in the minor groove, severely bending and unwinding the DNA. The domain from LEF-1 bent its DNA target by $\sim 117^{\circ}$, whereas the bend in the SRY DNA sequence was \sim 70°-80°. In both cases, an amino acid side chain, methionine and isoleucine, respectively, intercalated into the DNA duplex from the minor groove side at the site of the bend. Some geometric information about the structure-specific HMG-domain protein-DNA complexes is also available. The NMR solution structure of the yeast HMG-domain protein NHP6A has been solved, and a model partially based on the NMR data of the protein-DNA complex has been constructed.³⁰⁵ In this model, the protein binds in the minor groove, and the DNA is highly bent, as observed for the sequence-specific protein-DNA complexes. Methionine and phenylalanine side chains are proposed to intercalate into adjacent base pairs in the DNA. The positioning of the protein on the DNA differs from that of the sequence-specific SRY domain. In particular, it is shifted by 1 bp and binds in a reverse orientation. This model study provides some clues about the binding of structure-specific HMG-domain proteins to DNA.

The first structural information about the binding of a HMG domain to cisplatin-modified DNA was obtained through gel mobility shift studies (Table 4). The ability of several different full length HMGdomain proteins and some selected individual domains to bend cisplatin-modified DNA was investigated.²⁸⁷ HMG1, mtTFA, and Ixr1 bent DNA by 86°, 87°-90°, and 68°, respectively. Slightly smaller bend angles were obtained with HMG domains from HMG1 (domain B), SRY, and LEF-1, where the cisplatin-modified DNA bent by $65^{\circ}-74^{\circ}$, $\sim 50^{\circ}$, and 72°, respectively. The bend locus in all of these protein-DNA complexes was centered near the platinum adduct. Preliminary NMR work monitoring changes in chemical shifts suggested that HMG1 domain A bound to platinated DNA through the concave face of the protein.³⁰⁶ Fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) has also been employed to examine the bending that occurs when HMG1 domain B binds to a cisplatin-modified DNA probe.³⁰⁷ These studies revealed the DNA to be bent by 80°-95° upon protein binding.

Although these preliminary studies afford some indication about the structure of complexes of platinated DNA with HMG-domain proteins, very recently an X-ray crystal structure was determined of HMG1 domain A bound to a 16-bp DNA probe containing a cis-GG adduct (Figure 20).²⁹⁵ This structure shows the protein to bind through its concave surface and bend DNA by \sim 61°. The protein bend is not centered at the platinum adduct, however, but is translocated by 2 bp to the 3'-side. This unique positioning also occurs in solution as confirmed by hydroxyl radical footprinting. An aromatic side chain, F37, intercalates into the DNA at a hydrophobic notch located in the minor groove across from the platinum adduct. Mutation of this side chain to an alanine residue substantially diminishes the binding affinity of this protein, suggesting that it is an important element for complex formation. The dihedral angle between guanine ring planes is 75°. This angle is larger than observed in the X-ray and NMR structures of the cisplatin-modified duplex DNA alone, making the geometry less constrained and similar to that encountered in the platinated dinucleotide d(pGpG) structure.^{75,76} One of the ammine ligands is within hydrogen-bonding distance of a phosphate oxygen, as

protein	DNA size and flanking adduct sequence ^a	method	DNA bend angle (deg)	ref
HMG1	92-mer, AG*G*C	gel permutation	86	287
Ixr1	92-mer, AG*G*C	gel permutation	68	287
mtTFA	92-mer, AG*G*C	gel permutation	87-90	287
HMG1 domain A	16-mer, TG*G*A	X-ray	61	295
HMG1 domain B	92-mer, AG*G*C	gel permutation	65 - 74	287
HMG1 domain B	20-mer, TG*G*T	FRÊ T	80-95	307
LEF-1 domain	92-mer, AG*G*C	gel permutation	72	287
SRY domain	92-mer, AG*G*C	gel permutation	50	287
LEF-1 domain ^{b}	15-mer	ŇMR	117	304
SRY domain ^b	8-mer	NMR	70-80	303
LEF-1 domain ^{b}	\sim 100-mer	gel permutation	102 - 125	287
SRY domain ^b	\sim 100-mer	gel permutation	80	287

 Table 4. Bend Angles for HMG-Domain Protein Complexes with Cisplatin-Modified DNA

^{*a*} The site of platination is denoted by asterisks. ^{*b*} These bend angles are for the HMG domains binding to their target DNA sequences or to a consensus sequence.



Figure 20. Structure of HMG1 domain A bound to d(CCTCTCTG*G*ACCTTCC)·d(GGAAGGTCCAGAGAGG) containing a *cis*-GG adduct, where G* denotes the location of platinated nucleotides.²⁹⁵ The F37 residue, which intercalates into the platination site, is depicted in a space-filling representation. Reprinted with permission from ref 295. Copyright 1999 Macmillan Magazines Ltd.

was noted in earlier structures. This X-ray study provides the first detailed structural information for a complex between an HMG-domain protein and cisplatin-modified DNA and may be used in conjunction with other mechanistic work to help design more effective anticancer agents.

Thus far many studies have examined the binding affinity and structures of complexes between cisplatin-modified DNA and HMG-domain proteins. One area that is just now being explored is the kinetics of binding and dissociation for these protein-DNA complexes.³⁰⁷ By using fluorescently labeled cisplatinmodified DNA probes in the FRET experiments described above, a fluorescence signal change was detected upon HMG-domain protein binding. Stoppedflow kinetic monitoring of the time dependence of this signal change afforded information about the rate at which an HMG-domain protein binds to and dissociates from cisplatin-modified DNA. With this methodology, the rate constant for HMG1 domain B binding to cisplatin-modified DNA was determined to be $1.1 \times 10^9 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$, and the rate constant for dissociation of the complex was 30 s⁻¹.³⁰⁷

Rate information is potentially important for understanding how HMG-domain proteins might participate in the cisplatin mechanism of action. Recent work has demonstrated that when RPA and HMG1 are both present, the latter selectively binds cisplatinmodified DNA at the expense of RPA complex formation.²⁶⁰ One possible reason for this result is that HMG1 binding to cisplatin-modified DNA occurs at a faster rate than RPA binding.²⁶⁰ The stopped-flow kinetic results for HMG1 domain B are consistent with this explanation since the associative rate constant value is near the diffusion limit.

2. Implications for the Mechanism of Action

Several mechanisms have been considered for how HMG-domain proteins might modulate the sensitivity of cells to cisplatin. Two of the more prominent hypotheses have been explored through different experimental methods (see Figure 21). One hypothesis is that cisplatin–DNA adducts hijack proteins away from their normal binding sites, thereby disrupting cellular function. Since many HMG-domain proteins function as transcription factors, their removal from promoter or suppressor sequences by binding to cisplatin-DNA adducts could severely alter tumor cell biology. The other hypothesis, referred to as repair shielding, suggests that HMGdomain proteins could block cisplatin-DNA adducts from damage recognition needed for repair. This activity would result in diminished repair of the adducts, and persistence of platinum on the DNA could lead to cell death. It should be emphasized that these two models are not mutually exclusive and could work in concert to effect cisplatin cytotoxicity.

For the hijacking hypothesis, the binding affinity of an HMG-domain protein for cisplatin-modified DNA, adjusted for the relative number of binding sites, would have to be comparable to that of the natural binding site of the protein. Early work with the human upstream binding factor (hUBF), involved in ribosomal RNA transcription, demonstrated that this particular HMG-domain protein has a high affinity for cisplatin-modified DNA,²⁸⁸ comparable to its affinity for the promoter. Later work showed that this enhanced binding affinity might be due to the presence of multiple HMG domains in the protein.¹³⁸ In an in vitro ribosomal RNA transcription assay, cisplatin, but not trans-DDP, inhibited the synthesis of rRNA in a dose dependent manner.¹³⁸ This reconstituted system requires the presence of hUBF, RNA polymerase I, and SL1, which is composed of the TATA binding protein (TBP) and associated factors. Addition of excess hUBF to the cisplatin-inhibited reactions restored the rRNA transcription, suggesting that hUBF had been hijacked away from its normal binding site to the cisplatin-DNA adducts. One interesting note about this study is that, in addition to hUBF, TBP binds preferentially to cisplatinmodified DNA, as will be discussed below.³⁰⁸ The fact that addition of hUBF alone restored transcriptional activity implies that hijacking of TBP from its normal binding site is not an important component in this transcriptional inhibition by cisplatin.

More recently, treatment of cells with cisplatin blocked the synthesis of rRNA in vivo and caused a redistribution of hUBF and the other components of rRNA transcription in the nucleolus.³⁰⁹ As with the in vitro assay, these effects were not observed with *trans*-DDP. This result could be consistent with a hijacking mechanism, although the experiments indicated that hUBF is not removed from the nucleolus to other sites in the nucleus. Alternatively, as preferred by the authors, the presence of hUBF could shield these cisplatin adducts from repair, causing



Figure 21. A schematic diagram of the hijacking and repair shielding hypotheses proposed for how HMG-domain proteins might mediate cisplatin cytotoxicity.

the lesion to persist in the nucleolus while DNA in other regions of the nucleus are more effectively repaired. $^{\rm 309}$

Experimental evidence has also been obtained for the repair shielding hypothesis. Yeast mutants lacking the Ixr1 protein were 2–6-fold less sensitive to cisplatin than wild-type cells.^{283,310} These results were not observed with trans-DDP and suggested that Ixr1 might shield cisplatin adducts from repair, sensitizing the cells to the drug. This suggestion was later linked to the nucleotide excision repair pathway, because the differential sensitivity was not observed in yeast cells deficient in components involved in NER steps up to the first irreversible one, the 3'-incision by Rad2.³¹⁰ This system was also employed to investigate the hijacking hypothesis. Experiments demonstrated that treatment of cells with cisplatin did not cause Ixr1, which is involved in Cox5b transcription, to be diverted from its normal binding site sufficiently to disrupt Cox5b mRNA formation from genomic ĎNA or from a reporter gene under the control of the Cox5b promoter.²⁸⁵ Finally, more direct in vitro experiments showed that by adding HMGdomain proteins, such as HMG1, mtTFA, tsHMG, HMG1 domain B, and SRY, to the nucleotide excision repair assay, removal of cis-GG adducts could be blocked in a dose dependent fashion.^{170,171,176,290} Also in agreement with the repair shielding model is the finding that the immunoprecipitation of HMG1 and HMG2 from cell extracts enhances repair synthesis activity for cisplatin-modified DNA.³¹¹

The experiments presented above provide some evidence for how HMG-domain proteins might play a role in the cisplatin mechanism. As the functions of structure-specific HMG-domain proteins are un-

covered, new insight into how these proteins might affect cisplatin activity may be afforded. For example, SSRP1, the first HMG-domain protein found to bind selectively to cisplatin-DNA adducts, has recently been demonstrated to be one of a two-component factor required for transcription elongation from chromatin, suggesting a specific pathway that might be affected by this drug.³¹² Although the hypothesis that these proteins are important mediators of cisplatin cytotoxicity remains to be proved, a large body of experimental evidence points to their likely importance. The intracellular distribution of HMG1, HMG2, and hUBF changes following treatment of cells with cisplatin.^{309,313} Overexpression of tsHMG in HeLa cells modulates the cytotoxic properties of the drug,³¹⁴ and the cisplatin sensitivity of non-small cell lung cancer cells was increased more than 3-fold by the introduction of the HMG2 gene.³¹⁵ Examination of the intracellular platinum concentration and glutathione levels in the latter study indicates that these two factors cannot account for the increase in cisplatin sensitivity, consistent with the idea that HMG-domain proteins are shielding cisplatin-DNA adducts from repair. HMG1 mRNA levels in the human breast cancer cell line, MCF-7, are increased 2.5-fold after 0.5 h of estrogen treatment and remain 1.5-fold higher than basal levels from 1.5 to 24 h with continuous estrogen treatment.³¹⁶ Cotreatment of MCF-7 cells with cisplatin and estrogen causes a 2-fold increase in drug sensitivity.³¹⁷ Treatment of MCF-7 cells with estrogen and trans-DDP did not produce a sensitivity change, and the cisplatin sensitivity of HeLa Cells, which do not have an estrogen receptor, is not affected by estrogen.³¹⁷

The work discussed above indicates that HMGdomain proteins could be important in modulating the toxicity of cisplatin. There are, however, studies that are not consistent with this hypothesis. Repair assays performed with cell extracts fractionated to exclude potential shielding proteins did not change the relative repair levels of the 1,2- and 1,3-intrastrand cisplatin adducts.¹⁷² The relative repair rates of these adducts in a reconstituted system of highly purified components was similar to that in whole cell extracts.¹⁷¹ In both of these studies, the differential repair was attributed to the different DNA structures induced by the cisplatin adducts rather than to the shielding of selected adducts by cellular proteins. Thus, while not supporting the repair shielding hypothesis, these results do not directly contradict it since the repair of two different adducts are being compared. Experiments performed in yeast cells lacking the HMG-domain protein Cmb1 revealed that the mutant cells were more sensitive to cisplatin than the wild-type cells expressing the HMG-domain protein, whereas no difference was seen between the two cell lines with *trans*-DDP.²⁹¹ These results are the opposite of what was seen when yeast mutants lacking the Ixr1 protein were treated with cisplatin and suggest that Cmb1 could play a role in facilitating repair of the platinum lesions rather than shielding the adducts from repair.

Although the role of HMG-domain proteins in the anticancer mechanism needs to be explored further, there is reason to believe that this class of proteins could be engineered to modulate the response of cells to cisplatin. A treatment strategy involving a combination of gene therapy and chemotherapy, where HMG-domain protein levels are raised in conjunction with cisplatin administration, has the potential to sensitize cells to the drug. Either the domain or the platinum complex could be altered to improve the specificity of binding in vivo with the goal of improving the therapeutic response.

C. Transcription Factors Lacking an HMG Domain

Aside from repair and HMG-domain proteins, other cellular factors bind preferentially to cisplatin-modified DNA. The TATA binding protein (TBP) is one of these. TBP is part of the basal transcription factor TFIID. Both TFIID and TBP bind selectively to DNA damaged by cisplatin and UV radiation.³⁰⁸ The affinity of this protein for the 1,2-intrastrand adducts of cisplatin is greater than for the 1,3-intrastrand adduct or for DNA modified by trans-DDP, just as was observed with the HMG-domain proteins.³¹⁸ It has been suggested that TBP recognizes distorted DNA structures that are similar to the complex it makes upon binding to the TATA box.³¹⁸ The preference of TBP for bent DNA has been observed previously.^{319,320} Binding to damaged DNA has the potential to titrate this transcription factor away from its normal binding site and interfere with transcription. In support of this theory, microinjection of TBP into cells treated with UV radiation reduced the inhibition of RNA synthesis.³⁰⁸ Another possible option is that TBP could block the recognition of cisplatin adducts from the excision repair proteins. Further studies are

required before the potential role of TBP in the cisplatin mechanism can be assessed.

Another transcription factor that has recently been shown to recognize cisplatin-modified DNA is the Y-box binding protein (YB-1).³²¹ YB-1 is a transcription factor that binds to the Y-box, also known as the inverted CCAAT box, found in the promoter regions of many eukaryotic genes. This protein also binds specifically to single-stranded and apurinic DNA.³²² The preference for cisplatin-modified DNA over unmodified DNA was demonstrated in gel mobility shift assays, but there was no specificity for binding the *cis*-GG and *cis*-AG adducts over the *cis*-GNG adduct, as was seen with the HMG-domain proteins.³²¹ YB-1 is overexpressed in some cisplatin-resistant cell lines, and the sensitivity of these cells could be increased by using a YB-1 antisense construct.³²³ This protein also interacts with PCNA, a component necessary for NER.³²¹ Thus, this initial work suggests that YB-1 could be part of the cisplatin mechanism, although more studies are needed to establish its potential role.

D. Architectural Proteins without an HMG Domain

In addition to TBP, the histone H1 binds to cisplatin-damaged DNA.^{324,325} This histone interacts with linker DNA connecting nucleosome core particles in the chromatin fiber and has binding properties similar to that of HMG1 and HMG2.324 In a competition experiment, histone H1 bound to cisplatin-modified DNA more strongly than HMG1.324 The specificity of this protein for individual cisplatin-DNA adducts has yet to be determined, however. It will be interesting to see whether this protein has the same specificity as the HMG-domain proteins and TBP. Histone H1 (approximately one per nucleosome)³²⁶ is a more abundant chromatin protein than HMG1 and HMG2 (about one per 20 nucleosomes),³²⁷ although little is known about the availability of the free nuclear proteins.³²⁷ The ${\sim}10$ fold greater nuclear abundance of histone H1 compared to HMG1 and HMG2 makes it a tempting prospect for participating in the cisplatin mechanism.²⁵³ The precise role these proteins might play in the cytotoxicity of cisplatin is still unknown, but it is conceivable that some of the same mechanisms suggested for the HMG-domain proteins could apply for these proteins as well.

VI. Conclusions and Future Directions

Over the past \sim 35 years since the discovery of the biological activity of cisplatin, much has been learned about how this compound affects cells. DNA has been identified as a key cellular target of this drug, and many detailed structural studies have provided important information about DNA distortions induced by cisplatin lesions. The effects of cisplatin on DNA function have been studied, and there is also some information about how cisplatin–DNA adducts are processed in cells. The past 10 years have witnessed a successful search for cellular proteins that bind specifically to cisplatin–DNA adducts. Several such proteins have been identified to date, and studies

have been performed to determine how they might facilitate the cytotoxic properties of the drug.

Despite the information that has been acquired thus far, there are still many aspects of the cisplatin mechanism that remain a mystery. Pathways of cisplatin resistance, both intrinsic and acquired, are not well-understood at the molecular level, due to the many factors that could contribute to this condition. Alternative cellular DNA targets, such as telomeres and mtDNA, have only recently been investigated and may prove to be important. Proteins that bind to cisplatin-modified DNA continue to be identified and have the potential to play important roles in the mechanism of action. These kinds of cellular interactions need to be explored in more detail in order to understand how cisplatin kills cells.

The information gathered to date about the cisplatin mechanism has the potential to improve platinum antitumor drug therapy. Since overexpression of an HMG-domain protein in cells modulates cisplatin sensitivity, this concept could in principle be extended to a combination gene therapy-chemotherapy protocol. The design of new mechanistic based screening methods, like those described above with the green fluorescent protein and β -lactamase, may identify new platinum drug candidates from combinatorial libraries having an expanded organotropic profile. Continued research into the mechanism of action of cisplatin may allow us to understand why this compound is so extraordinarily effective against testicular cancer. With this knowledge, it should be possible to design rationally new drugs that treat many types of tumors with reduced toxic side effects and to overcome the resistance problems encountered with the current platinum anticancer drugs.

VII. Acknowledgments

This work was supported by grant CA34992 (S.J.L.) from the National Cancer Institute. E.R.J. is a recipient of an ACS Division of Medicinal Chemistry Predoctoral Fellowship. We thank Uta-Maria Ohndorf and Douglas A. Whittington for assistance in preparing the figures.

VIII. References

- (1) Rosenberg, B.; Van Camp, L.; Krigas, T. Nature 1965, 205, 698-699
- Rosenberg, B.; Van Camp, L.; Trosko, J. E.; Mansour, V. H. Nature **1969**, *222*, 385–386. (2)
- (3) Rosenberg, B.; Van Camp, L. Cancer Res. 1970, 30, 1799-1802.
- (4) Lippard, S. J. Science 1982, 218, 1075-1082.
- (5) Pil, P.; Lippard, S. J. In Encyclopedia of Cancer; Bertino, J. R., Ed.; Academic Press: San Diego, CA, 1997; Vol. 1, pp 392-410.
- (6) Kociba, R. J.; Sleight, S. D.; Rosenberg, B. Cancer Chemother. Rep. 1970, 54, 325–328.
- (7) Hayes, D.; Cvitkovic, E.; Golbey, R.; Scheiner, E.; Krakoff, I. H. Proc. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. 1976, 17, 169.
- (8) Bosl, G. J.; Motzer, R. J. N. Engl. J. Med. 1997, 337, 242-253. (9) Loehrer, P. J.; Einhorn, L. H. Ann. Intern. Med. 1984, 100, 704-713. Morris, M.; Eifel, P. J.; Lu, J.; Grigsby, P. W.; Levenback, C.; Stevens, R. E.; Rotman, M.; Gershenson, D. M.; Mutch, D. G. N. Engl. J. Med. 1999, 340, 1137-43. Rose, P. G.; Bundy, B. N.; Watkins, E. B.; Thigpen, J. T.; Deppe, G.; Maiman, M. A.; Clarke-Pearson, D. L.; Insalaco, S. N. Engl. J. Med. **1999**, 340, 1144–53. Keys, H. M.; Bundy, B. N.; Stehman, F. B.; Muder-spach, L. I.; Chafe, W. E.; Suggs, C. L., III; Walker, J. L.; Gersell, D. N. Engl. J. Med. 1999, 340, 1154-61.
- (10) Lebwohl, D.; Canetta, R. Eur. J. Cancer 1998, 34, 1522-1534.

- (11) Cvitkovic, E. Br. J. Cancer 1998, 77, 8-11.
- (12) Bleiberg, H. Br. J. Cancer 1998, 77, 1–3.
 (13) Kelland, L. R.; Abel, G.; McKeage, M. J.; Jones, M.; Goddard, P. M.; Valenti, M.; Murrer, B. A.; Harrap, K. R. Cancer Res. 1993, 53. 2581-2586.
- (14) Farrell, N.; Ha, T. T. B.; Souchard, J.-P.; Wimmer, F. L.; Cros, S.; Johnson, N. P. *J. Med. Chem.* **1989**, *32*, 2240–2241. (15) Farrell, N.; Kelland, L. R.; Roberts, J. D.; Van Beusichem, M.
- Cancer Res. 1992, 52, 5065-5072.
- (16)Van Beusichem, M.; Farrell, N. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 634-639.
- (17) Coluccia, M.; Nassi, A.; Loseto, F.; Boccarelli, A.; Mariggio, M. A.; Giordano, D.; Intini, F. P.; Caputo, P.; Natile, G. J. Med. Chem. 1993, 36, 510-512.
- (18) Coluccia, M.; Boccarelli, A.; Mariggiò, M. A.; Cardellicchio, N.; Caputo, P.; Intini, F. P.; Natile, G. Chem. Biol. Interact. 1995, 98, 251-266.
- (19) Kelland, L. R.; Barnard, C. F. J.; Mellish, K. J.; Jones, M.; Goddard, P. M.; Valenti, M.; Bryant, A.; Murrer, B. A.; Harrap, K. R. *Cancer Res.* **1994**, *54*, 5618–5622.
- (20) Mellish, K. J.; Barnard, C. F. J.; Murrer, B. A.; Kelland, L. R. Int. J. Cancer 1995, 62, 717–723.
- (21) Kelland, L. R.; Barnard, C. F. J.; Evans, I. G.; Murrer, B. A.; Theobald, B. R. C.; Wyer, S. B.; Goddard, P. M.; Jones, M.; Valenti, M.; Bryant, A.; Rogers, P. M.; Harrap, K. R. *J. Med. Chem.* **1995**, *38*, 3016–3024.
- Weiss, R. B.; Christian, M. C. Drugs 1993, 46, 360-377. (22)
- (23) Hambley, T. W. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1997, 166, 181-223.
- (24) Gale, G. R.; Morris, C. R.; Atkins, L. M.; Smith, A. B. Cancer Res. 1973, 33, 813-818.
- (25) Binks, S. P.; Dobrota, M. Biochem. Pharmacol. 1990, 40, 1329-1336
- (26) Hromas, R. A.; North, J. A.; Burns, C. P. Cancer Lett. 1987, 36, 197-201.
- (27) Mann, S. C.; Andrews, P. A.; Howell, S. B. Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol. 1990, 25, 236-240.
- (28) Andrews, P. A.; Mann, S. C.; Velury, S.; Howell, S. B. In Platinum and other metal coordination compounds in cancer chemotherapy; Nicolini, M., Ed.; Martinus Nijhoff Publishing: Boston, 1988; pp 248–254.
 (29) Gately, D. P.; Howell, S. B. Br. J. Cancer 1993, 67, 1171–1176.
 (30) Witkin, E. M. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1967, 57, 1275–1279.

- (31) Adler, H. I.; Hardigree, A. A. Rad. Res. 1965, 25, 92-102.
- (32)Rosenkranz, H. S.; Garro, A. J.; Levy, J. A.; Carr, H. S. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1966, 114, 501-515
- (33) Reslová, S. Chem. Biol. Interact. 1971, 4, 66-70.
- (34) Harder, H. C.; Rosenberg, B. Int. J. Cancer 1970, 6, 207-216. (35) Howle, J. A.; Gale, G. R. Biochem. Pharmacol. 1970, 19, 2757-
- 2762 (36) Pascoe, J. M.; Roberts, J. J. Biochem. Pharmacol. 1974, 23, 1345-1357
- (37) Akaboshi, M.; Kawai, K.; Maki, H.; Akuta, K.; Ujeno, Y.; Miyahara, T. Jpn. J. Cancer Res. 1992, 83, 522-526
- (38) Beck, D. J.; Brubaker, R. R. J. Bacteriology 1973, 116, 1247-1252
- (39) Drobnik, J.; Urbánková, M.; Krekulová, A. Mutat. Res. 1973, 17, 13-20.
- (40) Markham, B. E.; Brubaker, R. R. J. Bacteriol. 1980, 143, 455-462
- (41)Brouwer, J.; van de Putte, P.; Fichtinger-Schepman, A. M. J.; Reedijk, J. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1981, 78, 7010-7014. (42)
- Beck, D. J.; Popoff, S.; Sancar, A.; Rupp, W. D. Nucleic Acids Res. 1985, 13, 7395-7412. Fram, R. J.; Cusick, P. S.; Wilson, J. M.; Marinus, M. G. Mol. (43)
- Pharmacol. 1985, 28, 51-55.
- (44) Popoff, S. C.; Beck, D. J.; Rupp, W. D. Mutat. Res. 1987, 183, 129-137.
- (45) Wang, K.; Lu, J.; Li, R. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1996, 151, 53-88.
- (46) Wang, K., Ed, J., El, R. Coold. Chem. Rev. 1990, 137–35–36.
 (46) Speelmans, G.; Sips, W. H. H. M.; Grisel, R. J. H.; Staffhorst, R. W. H. M.; Fichtinger-Schpeman, A. M. J.; Reedijk, J.; de Kruijff, B. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1996, 1283, 60–66.
 (47) Speelmans, G.; Staffhorst, R. W. H. M.; Versluis, K.; Reedijk, J.; de Kruijff, B. Biochemistry 1997, 36, 10545–10550.
 (40) Kirch Main D. Mitherman S. W. Chem. Pick Letters 4 1000.
- (48) Köpf-Maier, P.; Mühlhausen, S. K. Chem. Biol. Interact. 1992,
- 82, 295-316. (49) Zeng, H.; Wang, B.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, K. Thermochim. Acta 1995,
- 265. 31-38. (50)
- Sherman, S. E.; Lippard, S. J. Chem. Rev. 1987, 87, 1153-1181. (51)
- Fichtinger-Schepman, A. M. J.; van der Veer, J. L.; den Hartog, J. H. J.; Lohman, P. H. M.; Reedijk, J. *Biochemistry* **1985**, *24*, 707-713.
- (52) Eastman, A. Biochemistry 1986, 25, 3912-3915.
- (53) Fichtinger-Schepman, A. M. J.; van Oosterom, A. T.; Lohman, P. H. M.; Berends, F. Cancer Res. 1987, 47, 3000-3004.
- (54) Poirier, M. C.; Reed, E.; Zwelling, L. A.; Ozols, R. F.; Litterst, C. L.; Yuspa, S. H. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **1985**, *62*, 89–94.
 (55) Reed, E.; Yuspa, S. H.; Zwelling, L. A.; Ozols, R. F.; Poirier, M. C. J. Clin. Invest. **1986**, *77*, 545–550.

- (56) Reed, E.; Ozols, R. F.; Tarone, R.; Yuspa, S. H.; Poirier, M. C. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1987, 84, 5024–5028.
 (57) Lepre, C. A.; Strothkamp, K. G.; Lippard, S. J. Biochemistry
- **1987**, *26*, 5651–5657.
- (58) Eastman, A.; Jennerwein, M. M.; Nagel, D. L. Chem. Biol. Interact. 1988, 67, 71-80.
 (59) Bancroft, D. P.; Lepre, C. A.; Lippard, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
- **1990**, *112*, 6860–6871.
- (60) Johnson, N. P.; Hoeschele, J. D.; Rahn, R. O. Chem. Biol. *Interact.* **1980**, *30*, 151–169. (61) Barnham, K. J.; Berners-Price, S. J.; Frenkiel, T. A.; Frey, U.;
- Sadler, P. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 1874–1877.
 Eastman, A.; Barry, M. A. Biochemistry 1987, 26, 3303–3307.
 Bernal-Méndez, E.; Boudvillain, M.; González-Vílchez, F.; Leng, M. Biochemistry 1997, 36, 7281–7287. (62)(63)
- Cohen, G. L.; Bauer, W. R.; Barton, J. K.; Lippard, S. J. Science (64)
- **1979**, *203*, 1014–1016. Macquet, J.-P.; Butour, J.-L. Biochimie 1978, 60, 901-914. (65)
- Scovell, W. M.; Kroos, L. R. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. (66)**1982**, 104, 1597–1603. (67) Maeda, Y.; Nunomura, K.; Ohtsubo, E. J. Mol. Biol. 1990, 215,
- 321 329(68) Nunomura, K.; Maeda, Y.; Ohtsubo, E. J. Gen. Appl. Microbiol.
- **1991**, *37*, 207–214. (69) Kagemoto, A.; Takagi, H.; Naruse, K.; Baba, Y. *Thermochim*.
- *Acta* **1991**, *190*, 191–201. Naser, L. J.; Pinto, A. L.; Lippard, S. J.; Essigmann, J. M. (70)
- Biochemistry 1988, 27, 4357-4367. Poklar, N.; Pilch, D. S.; Lippard, S. J.; Redding, E. A.; Dunham, (71)S. U.; Breslauer, K. J. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1996, 93, 7606-7611.
- (72) Pilch, D. S.; Dunham, S. U.; Jamieson, E. R.; Lippard, S. J.; Breslauer, K. J. Manuscript in preparation.
- Yang, D.; Wang, A. H.-J. Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. 1996, 66, 81-(73)111.
- (74) Gelasco, A.; Lippard, S. J. In *Topics in Biological Inorganic Chemistry*; Clarke, M., Sadler, P. J., Eds.; Springer-Verlag: Heidelberg, 1999; Vol. 1, pp 1–43.
 (75) Sherman, S. E.; Gibson, D.; Wang, A. H.-J.; Lippard, S. J. Science Interview Construction (1997).
- 1985, 230, 412-417.
- Sherman, S. E.; Gibson, D.; Wang, A. H.-J.; Lippard, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1988**, *110*, 7368–7381. (76)
- (77) Admiraal, G.; van der Veer, J. L.; de Graaff, R. A. G.; den Hartog,
- (77) Aumin aa, G.; Van der Veer, J. L.; de Graan, K. A. G.; den Hartog, J. H. J.; Reedijk, J. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1987**, *109*, 592–594.
 (78) den Hartog, J. H. J.; Altona, C.; van der Marel, G. A.; Reedijk, J. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **1985**, *147*, 371–379.
 (79) den Hartog, J. H. J.; Altona, C.; van Boom, J. H.; van der Marel, G. A.; Haasnoot, C. A. G.; Reedijk, J. *J. Biomol. Struct. Dyn.* **106**, a **1127**, 1127 **1985**, 2, 1137–1155.
- (80) Herman, F.; Kozelka, J.; Stoven, V.; Guittet, E.; Girault, J.-P.;
- (82) Rice, J. A.; Crothers, D. M.; Pinto, A. L.; Lippard, S. J. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1988, 85, 4158–4161.
 (83) Bellon, S. F.; Lippard, S. J. Biophys. Chem. 1990, 35, 179–188.
- Bellon, S. F.; Coleman, J. H.; Lippard, S. J. Biochemistry 1991, (84)30, 8026-8035.
- Sip, M.; Schwartz, A.; Vovelle, F.; Ptak, M.; Leng, M. Biochem-(85) istry 1992, 31, 2508-2513.
- (86) Malinge, J.-M.; Pérez, C.; Leng, M. Nucleic Acids Res. 1994, 22, 3834 - 3839
- (87) Takahara, P. M.; Rosenzweig, A. C.; Frederick, C. A.; Lippard, S. J. Nature 1995, 377, 649–652. Takahara, P. M.; Frederick, C. A.; Lippard, S. J. J. Am. Chem.
- (88)Soc. 1996, 118, 12309-12321.
- Gelasco, A.; Lippard, S. J. Biochemistry 1998, 37, 9230-9239. (89)
- Yang, D.; van Boom, S. S. G. E.; Reedijk, J.; van Boom, J. H.; Wang, A. H.-J. *Biochemistry* **1995**, *34*, 12912–12920. van Boom, S. S. G. E.; Yang, D.; Reedijk, J.; van der Marel, G. (90)
- (91)A.; Wang, A. H.-J. *J. Biomolec. Struct. Dyn.* **1996**, *13*, 989–998.
- (92) Dunham, S. U.; Lippard, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 10702-10712
- (93) Dunham, S. U.; Dunham, S. U.; Turner, C. J.; Lippard, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 5395-5406.
- (94) Fouchet, M.-H.; Guittet, E.; Cognet, J. A. H.; Kozelka, J.; Gauthier, C.; Le Bret, M.; Zimmermann, K.; Chottard, J.-C. J. Bioinorg. Chem. 1997, 2, 83-92.
- (95)Van Garderen, C. J.; Van Houte, L. P. A. Eur. J. Biochem. 1994, 225, 1169-1179.
- (96) Huang, H.; Zhu, L.; Reid, B. R.; Drobny, G. P.; Hopkins, P. B.
- (60) Hading, H. Lind, E. R. B. R. Dibin, C. F., Hopkins, F. B. Science 1995, 270, 1842–1845.
 (97) Paquet, F.; Pérez, C.; Leng, M.; Lancelot, G.; Malinge, J.-M. J. Biomol. Struct. Dyn. 1996, 14, 67–77.
- Coste, F.; Malinge, J.-M.; Serre, L.; Shepard, W.; Roth, M.; Leng, M.; Zelwer, C. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **1999**, *27*, 1837–1846. (98)
- (99) Barrett, T. E.; Savva, R.; Barlow, T.; Brown, T.; Jiricny, J.; Pearl, L. H. Nat. Struct. Biol. 1998, 5, 697–701.

- Chemical Reviews, 1999, Vol. 99, No. 9 2495
- (100) Jiricny, J. Mutat. Res. 1998, 409, 107-121.
- (101) Erzberger, J. P.; Barsky, D.; Schärer, O. D.; Colvin, M. E.; Wilson, D. M., III Nucleic Acids Res. 1998, 26, 2771–2778.
- (102)Gorman, M. A.; Morera, S.; Rothwell, D. G.; de La Fortelle, E.; Mol, C. D.; Tainer, J. A.; Hickson, I. D.; Freemont, P. S. EMBO J. 1997, 16, 6548-6558.
- (103) Lim, L. O.; Neims, A. H. Biochem. Pharmacol. 1987, 36, 2769-2774.
- (104) LeDoux, S. P.; Wilson, G. L.; Beecham, E. J.; Stevnsner, T.; Wassermann, K.; Bohr, V. A. Carcinogenesis 1992, 13, 1967-1973.
- (105) Niranjan, B. G.; Bhat, N. K.; Avadhani, N. G. Science 1982, 215, 73–7Š.
- (106) Olivero, O. A.; Semino, C.; Kassim, A.; Lopez-Larraza, D. M.; Poirier, M. C. *Mutat. Res.* **1995**, *346*, 221–230.
- Giurgiovich, A. J.; Diwan, B. A.; Olivero, O. A.; Anderson, L. (107)M.; Rice, J. M.; Poirier, M. C. Carcinogenesis 1997, 18, 93-96.
- (108)Giurgiovich, A. J.; Anderson, L. M.; Jones, A. B.; Dove, L. F. Moskal, T. J.; Rice, J. M.; Olivero, O. A.; Poirier, M. C. Reprod. Toxicol. 1997, 11, 95-100.
- (109) Olivero, O. A.; Chang, P. K.; Lopez-Larraza, D. M.; Semino-Mora, M. C.; Poirier, M. C. *Mutat. Res.* **1997**, *391*, 79–86.
 (110) Harder, H. C.; Smith, R. G.; Leroy, A. F. *Cancer Res.* **1976**, *36*,
- 6, 3821-3829.
- (111) Johnson, N. P.; Hoeschele, J. D.; Kuemmerle, N. B.; Masker, W. E.; Rahn, R. O. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* **1978**, *23*, 267–271.
- (112) Pinto, A. L.; Lippard, S. J. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1985, *82*, 4616–4619.
- (113) Gralla, J. D.; Sasse-Dwight, S.; Poljak, L. G. Cancer Res. 1987, 47, 5092-5096.
- (114) Buchanan, R. L.; Gralla, J. D. Biochemistry 1990, 29, 3436-3442.
- (115) Villani, G.; Hübscher, U.; Butour, J.-L. Nucleic Acids Res. 1988, 16, 4407-4418.
- (116) Hoffman, J.-S.; Johnson, N. P.; Villani, G. J. Biol. Chem. 1989, 264, 15130-15135
- (117) Huang, L.; Turchi, J. J.; Wahl, A. F.; Bambara, R. A. *Biochemistry* **1993**, *32*, 841–848.
- Ciccarelli, R. B.; Solomon, M. J.; Varshavsky, A.; Lippard, S. J. Biochemistry 1985, 24, 7533-7540. (118)
- (119) Heiger-Bernays, W. J.; Essigmann, J. M.; Lippard, S. J. *Biochemistry* **1990**, *29*, 8461–8466.
- (120) Roberts, J. J.; Friedlos, F. Cancer Res. 1987, 47, 31-36.
- (121) Bernges, F.; Holler, E. Biochemistry 1988, 27, 6398-6402.
- (122) Comess, K. M.; Burstyn, J. N.; Essigmann, J. M.; Lippard, S. J. Biochemistry 1992, 31, 3975–3990.
- (123)Suo, Z.; Lippard, S. J.; Johnson, K. A. Biochemistry 1999, 38, 715-726.
- (124)Sorenson, C. M.; Eastman, A. Cancer Res. 1988, 48, 4484-4488.
- Sorenson, C. M.; Eastman, A. Cancer Res. 1988, 48, 6703-6707. (125)
- (126) Corda, Y.; Job, C.; Anin, M.-F.; Leng, M.; Job, D. Biochemistry **1991**, *30*, 222–230.
- Corda, Y.; Anin, M.-F.; Leng, M.; Job, D. *Biochemistry* **1992**, *31*, 1904–1908. (127)
- Corda, Y.; Job, C.; Anin, M.-F.; Leng, M.; Job, D. *Biochemistry* **1993**, *32*, 8582–8588. (128)
- Lemaire, M.-A.; Schwartz, A.; Rahmouni, A. R.; Leng, M. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1991, 88, 1982–1985. (129)
- Cullinane, C.; Mazur, S. J.; Essigmann, J. M.; Phillips, D. R.; (130)Bohr, V. A. Biochemistry 1999, 38, 6204-6212.
- (131) Evans, G. L.; Gralla, J. D. Biochem. Pharmacol. 1992, 44, 107-119.
- (132) Evans, G. L.; Gralla, J. D. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1992, 184, 1–8.
- Spandidos, D. A.; Zoumpourlis, V.; Kotsinas, A.; Maurer, H. R.; (133)Patsilinacos, P. *Genet. Anal. Techn. Appl.* **1990**, *7*, 138–141. Zoumpourlis, V.; Patsillnacos, P.; Kotsinas, A.; Maurer, H. R.;
- (134)Lenas, P.; Spandidos, D. A. Anti-cancer Drugs 1990, 1, 55-58.
- (135) Zoumpourlis, V.; Kerr, D. J.; Spandidos, D. A. Biochem. Pharmacol. 1992, 43, 650-654.
- (136) Mello, J. A.; Lippard, S. J.; Essigmann, J. M. Biochemistry 1995, *34*, 14783–14791.
- Mymryk, J. S.; Zaniewski, E.; Archer, T. K. Proc. Natl. Acad. (137)Sci. U.S.A. 1995, 92, 2076-2080.
- (138)Zhai, X.; Beckmann, H.; Jantzen, H.-M.; Essigmann, J. M. Biochemistry 1998, 37, 16307-16315.
- Sandman, K. E.; Marla, S. S.; Zlokarnik, G.; Lippard, S. J. *Chem. Biol.* **1999**, *6*, 541–551. (139)
- (140)Zlokarnik, G.; Negulescu, P. A.; Knapp, T. E.; Mere, L.; Burres, N.; Feng, L.; Whitney, M.; Roemer, K.; Tsien, R. Y. Science 1998, 279, 84–88.
- (141) Moyzis, R. K.; Buckingham, J. M.; Cram, L. S.; Dani, M.; Deaven, L. L.; Jones, M. D.; Meyne, J.; Ratliff, R. L.; Wu, J.-R. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1988, 85, 6622-6626.
- Meyne, J.; Ratliff, R. L.; Moyzis, R. K. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. (142)U.S.A. 1989, 86, 7049-7053.
- (143) Counter, C. M. Mutat. Res. 1996, 366, 45-63.

- (144) Allsopp, R. C.; Vaziri, H.; Patterson, C.; Goldstein, S.; Younglai, E. V.; Futcher, A. B.; Greider, C. W.; Harley, C. B. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1992, 89, 10114–10118.
- (145) Harley, C. B.; Futcher, A. B.; Greider, C. W. Nature 1990, 345, 458 - 460
- (146) Levy, M. Z.; Allsopp, R. C.; Futcher, A. B.; Greider, C. W.; Harley, C. B. J. Mol. Biol. 1992, 225, 951–960.
- (147) Kim, N. W.; Piatyszek, M. A.; Prowse, K. R.; Harley, C. B.; West, M. D.; Ho, P. L. C.; Covillo, G. M.; Wright, W. E.; Weinrich, S. L.; Shay, J. W. Science 1994, 266, 2011-2015.
- (148) Bednarek, A.; Budunova, I.; Slaga, T. J.; Aldaz, C. M. Cancer Res. 1995, 55, 4566-4569.
- (149) Chadeneau, C.; Hay, K.; Hirte, H. W.; Gallinger, S.; Bacchetti, S. Cancer Res. 1995, 55, 2533–2536.
- (150) Ishibashi, T.; Lippard, S. J. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1998, 95, 4219–4223.
- (151) Burger, A. M.; Double, J. A.; Newell, D. R. Eur. J. Cancer 1997, *33*, 638–644.
- (152)Sorenson, C. M.; Barry, M. A.; Eastman, A. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 1990, 82, 749-755.
- (153) Wyllie, A. H. J. Pathol. 1987, 153, 313-316.
- (154) Wyllie, A. H.; Kerr, J. F. R.; Currie, A. R. Int. Rev. Cytol. 1980, *68*, 251–306.
- (155) Barry, M. A.; Behnke, C. A.; Eastman, A. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* **1990**, *40*, 2353–2362.
- (156) Zamble, D. B.; Lippard, S. J. Trends Biochem. Sci. 1995, 20, 435 - 439
- (157) Zamble, D. B.; Lippard, S. J. In Cisplatin-Chemistry and Biochemistry of a Leading Anticancer Drug; Lippert, B., Ed.; Verlag Helvetica Chimica Acta: Zurich, 1999; pp 73-110.
- (158) Chu, G. J. Biol. Chem. 1994, 269, 787-790.
- (159) Wood, R. D. J. Biol. Chem. 1997, 272, 23465-23468.
- (160) Sancar, A. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 1996, 65, 43-81.
 (161) Sancar, A. J. Biol. Chem. 1995, 270, 15915-15918.
- (162) Fraval, H. N. A.; Rawlings, C. J.; Roberts, J. J. Mutat. Res. 1978, 51, 121-132.
- (163) Plooy, A. C. M.; van Dijk, M.; Berends, F.; Lohman, P. H. M. Cancer Res. 1985, 45, 4178–4184.
- (164) Dijt, F. J.; Fichtinger-Schepman, A. M. J.; Berends, F.; Reedijk, J. Cancer Res. 1988, 48, 6058-6062.
- (165) Sugasawa, K.; Ng, J. M. Y.; Masutani, C.; Iwai, S.; van der Spek, P. J.; Eker, A. P. M.; Hanaoka, F.; Bootsma, D.; Hoeijmakers, J. H. J. Molecular Cell **1998**, 2, 223–232.
- (166) Wakasugi, M.; Sancar, A. J. Biol. Chem. 1999, 274, 18759-18768.
- (167) Hansson, J.; Wood, R. D. Nucleic Acids Res. 1989, 17, 8073-8091.
- (168) Hansson, J.; Grossman, L.; Lindahl, T.; Wood, R. D. Nucleic Acids Res. 1990, 18, 35-40.
- (169) Szymkowski, D. E.; Yarema, K.; Essigmann, J. M.; Lippard, S. J.; Wood, R. D. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1992, 89, 10772-10776
- (170) Huang, J.-C.; Zamble, D. B.; Reardon, J. T.; Lippard, S. J.; Sancar, A. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1994, 91, 10394–10398.
- (171) Zamble, D. B.; Mu, D.; Reardon, J. T.; Sancar, A.; Lippard, S. J. Biochemistry **1996**, 35, 10004–10013.
- (172) Moggs, J. G.; Szymkowski, D. E.; Yamada, M.; Karran, P.; Wood, R. D. Nucleic Acids Res. 1997, 25, 480-490.
- (173) Page, J. D.; Husain, I.; Sancar, A.; Chaney, S. G. Biochemistry **1990**, 29, 1016-1024.
- (174) Jones, J. C.; Zhen, W.; Reed, E.; Parker, R. J.; Sancar, A.; Bohr,
- V. A. J. Biol. Chem. 1991, 266, 7101–7107.
 (175) May, A.; Nairn, R. S.; Okumoto, D. S.; Wassermann, K.; Stevnsner, T.; Jones, J. C.; Bohr, V. A. J. Biol. Chem. 1993, 268, 1650-1657.
- (176) Hanawalt, P. C. Science 1994, 266, 1957-1958.
- (177) Modrich, P. J. Biol. Chem. 1997, 272, 24727-24730.
- (178) Duckett, D. R.; Drummond, J. T.; Murchie, A. I. H.; Reardon, J. T.; Sancar, A.; Lilley, D. M. J.; Modrich, P. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1996, 93, 6443-6447.
- (179) Mello, J. A.; Acharya, S.; Fishel, R.; Essigmann, J. M. Chem. Biol. 1996, 3, 579-589.
- Yamada, M.; O'Reagan, E.; Brown, R.; Karran, P. Nucleic Acids (180)Res. 1997, 25, 491-495.
- Drummond, J. T.; Anthoney, A.; Brown, R.; Modrich, P. J. Biol. Chem. **1996**, 271, 19645–19648. (181)
- (182)Fink, D.; Nebel, S.; Aebi, S.; Zheng, H.; Cenni, B.; Nehmé, A.; Christen, R. D.; Howell, S. B. Cancer Res. 1996, 56, 4881-4886.
- (183) Aebi, S.; Kurdi-Haidar, B.; Gordon, R.; Cenni, B.; Zheng, H.; Fink, D.; Christen, R. D.; Boland, C. R.; Koi, M.; Fishel, R.; Howell, S. B. Cancer Res. 1996, 56, 3087-3090.
- (184) Brown, R.; Hirst, G. L.; Gallagher, W. M.; McIlwrath, A. J.; Margison, G. P.; van der Zee, A. G. J.; Anthoney, D. A. Oncogene **1997**, 15, 45-52.
- (185) Fink, D.; Zheng, H.; Nebel, S.; Norris, P. S.; Aebi, S.; Lin, T.-P.; Nehmé, A.; Christen, R. D.; Haas, M.; MacLeod, C. L.; Howell, S. B. *Cancer Res.* **1997**, *57*, 1841–1845.

- (186) Fink, D.; Nebel, S.; Norris, P. S.; Baergen, R. N.; Wilczynski, S. P.; Costa, M. J.; Haas, M.; Cannistra, S. A.; Howell, S. B. *Int. J. Cancer* **1998**, *77*, 741–746.
- (187) Scanlon, K. J.; Kashani-Sabet, M.; Tone, T.; Funato, T. Pharmac. Ther. 1991, 52, 385-406.
- Timmer-Bosscha, H.; Mulder, N. H.; de Vries, E. G. E. *Br. J. Cancer* **1992**, *66*, 227–238. (188)
- (189) Perez, R. P. Eur. J. Cancer 1998, 34, 1535-1542.
- (190)Teicher, B. A.; Holden, S. A.; Kelley, M. J.; Shea, T. C.; Cucchi, C. A.; Rosowsky, A.; Henner, W. D.; Frei, E., III Cancer Res. 1987, 47, 388-393.
- (191) Richon, V. M.; Schulte, N.; Eastman, A. Cancer Res. 1987, 47, 2056-2061
- (192) Waud, W. R. Cancer Res. 1987, 47, 6549-6555.
- (193) Andrews, P. A.; Velury, S.; Mann, S. C.; Howell, S. B. Cancer Res. 1988, 48, 68-73.
- (194) Eastman, A.; Schulte, N. *Biochemistry* **1988**, *27*, 4730–4734. (195) Andrews, P. A.; Murphy, M. P.; Howell, S. B. *Eur. J. Cancer*
- (195) Andrews, F. A., Mulpiny, W. F., Howen, S. B. Edit, S. Canter Clin. Oncol. 1989, 25, 619–625.
 (196) Loh, S. Y.; Mistry, P.; Kelland, L. R.; Abel, G.; Harrap, K. R. Br. J. Cancer 1992, 66, 1109–1115.
- (197) Zhen, W.; Link Jr., C. J.; O'Connor, P. M.; Reed, E.; Parker, R.; Howell, S. B.; Bohr, V. A. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **1992**, *12*, 3689–3698.
- (198)Parker, R. J.; Eastman, A.; Bostick-Bruton, F.; Reed, E. J. Clin. Invest. 1991, 87, 772-777.
- (199) Dabholkar, M.; Parker, R.; Reed, E. Mutat. Res. 1992, 274, 45-
- (200)Strandberg, M. C.; Bresnick, E.; Eastman, A. Chem. Biol. Interact. **1982**, *39*, 169–180. Kelland, L. R.; Mistry, P.; Abel, G.; Friedlos, F.; Loh, S. Y.;
- (201)Roberts, J. J.; Harrap, K. R. Cancer Res. 1992, 52, 1710-1716.
- (202) Foka, M.; Belehradek, J., Jr.; Paoletti, J. Biochem. Pharmacol. 1988, 37, 3467–3472.
- Hospers, G. A. P.; Mulder, N. H.; de Jong, B.; de Ley, L.; Uges, D. R. A.; Fichtinger-Schepman, A. M. J.; Schepper, R. J.; de (203)
- Vries, E. G. E. *Cancer Res.* 1988, *48*, 6803–6807.
 (204) Fujii, R.; Mutoh, M.; Niwa, K.; Yamada, K.; Aikou, T.; Nakagawa, M.; Kuwano, M.; Akiyama, S. *Jpn. J. Cancer Res.* 1994, *85*, 426– 433
- (205) Wolf, C. R.; Hayward, I. P.; Lawrie, S. S.; Buckton, K.; McIntyre, M. A.; Adams, D. J.; Lewis, A. D.; Scott, A. R. R.; Smyth, J. F. *Int. J. Cancer* **1987**, *39*, 695–702.
- Behrens, B. C.; Hamilton, T. C.; Masuda, H.; Grotzinger, K. R.; (206)Whang-Peng, J.; Louie, K. G.; Knutsen, T.; McKoy, W. M.; Young, R. C.; Ozols, R. F. *Cancer Res.* **1987**, *47*, 414–418.
- Godwin, A. K.; Meister, A.; O'Dwyer, P. J.; Huang, C. S.; Hamilton, T. C.; Anderson, M. E. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **1992**, *89*, 3070–3074. (207)
- (208) Mistry, P.; Kelland, L. R.; Abel, G.; Sidhar, S.; Harrap, K. R. Br. J. Cancer 1991, 64, 215-220.
- (209) Batist, G.; Behrens, B. C.; Makuch, R.; Hamilton, T. C.; Katki, A. G.; Louie, K. G.; Myers, C. E.; Ozols, R. F. Biochem. Pharmacol. 1986, 35, 2257–2259.
- (210) Andrews, P. A.; Murphy, M. P.; Howell, S. B. Cancer Res. 1985, 45, 6250-6253.
- (211) Hromas, R. A.; Andrews, P. A.; Murphy, M. P.; Burns, C. P.
- Res. 1990, 50, 72-77.
- (213) Kelley, S. L.; Basu, A.; Teicher, B. A.; Hacker, M. P.; Hamer, D. H.; Lazo, J. S. *Science* **1988**, *241*, 1813–1815. (214) Schilder, R. J.; Hall, L.; Monks, A.; Handel, L. M.; Fornace, A.
- J., Jr.; Ozols, R. F.; Fojo, A. T.; Hamilton, T. C. Int. J. Cancer 1990, 45, 416-422
- (215) Lai, G.-M.; Ozols, R. F.; Smyth, J. F.; Young, R. C.; Hamilton, T. C. Biochem. Pharmacol. 1988, 37, 4597–4600.
- (216) Masuda, H.; Ozols, R. F.; Lai, G.-M.; Fojo, A.; Rothenberg, M.; Hamilton, T. C. Cancer Res. 1988, 48, 5713-5716.
- (217) Masuda, H.; Tanaka, T.; Matsuda, H.; Kusaba, I. Cancer Res.
- **1990**, *50*, 1863–1866. Johnson, S. W.; Swiggard, P. A.; Handel, L. M.; Brennan, J. M.; (218)Godwin, A. K.; Ozols, R. F.; Hamilton, T. C. Cancer Res. 1994, 54, 5911-5916.
- Sheibani, N.; Jennerwein, M. M.; Eastman, A. *Biochemistry* **1989**, *28*, 3120-3124. (219)
- Ali-Osman, F.; Berger, M. S.; Rairkar, A.; Stein, D. E. J. Cell. Biochem. **1994**, *54*, 11–19. (220)
- (221)Jones, S. L.; Hickson, I. D.; Harris, A. L.; Harnett, P. R. Int. J. Cancer 1994, 59, 388-393.
- (222) Köberle, B.; Masters, J. R. W.; Hartley, J. A.; Wood, R. D. Curr. *Biol.* **1999**, *9*, 273–276. States, J. C.; Reed, E. *Cancer Lett.* **1996**, *108*, 233–237.
- (223)
- Chu, G.; Chang, E. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1990, 87, 3324-(224)3327.
- (225) Dabholkar, M.; Bostick-Bruton, F.; Weber, C.; Bohr, V. A.; Egwuagu, C.; Reed, E. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 1992, 84, 1512-1517.
- (226) Kraker, A. J.; Moore, C. W. Cancer Lett. 1988, 38, 307-314.

- (227) Teicher, B. A.; Herman, T. S.; Holden, S. A.; Wang, Y.; Pfeffer, M. R.; Crawford, J. W.; Frei, E., III Science 1990, 247, 1457-1461
- (228) Gallagher, W. M.; Cairney, M.; Schott, B.; Roninson, I. B.; Brown, R. Oncogene 1997, 14, 185–193.
- (229) Anthoney, D. A.; McIlwrath, A. J.; Gallagher, W. M.; Edlin, A. R. M.; Brown, R. Cancer Res. 1996, 56, 1374-1381
- (230) Perego, P.; Giarola, M.; Righetti, S. C.; Supino, R.; Caserini, C.; Delia, D.; Pierotti, M. A.; Miyashita, T.; Reed, J. C.; Zunino, F. *Cancer Res*. **1996**, *56*, 556–562.
- (231) Mamenta, E. L.; Poma, E. E.; Kaufmann, W. K.; Delmastro, D. A.; Grady, H. L.; Chaney, S. G. Cancer Res. 1994, 54, 3500-3505.
- (232) Gibbons, G. R.; Kaufmann, W. K.; Chaney, S. G. Carcinogenesis 1991, 12, 2253-2257.
- (233) Johnson, S. W.; Laub, P. B.; Beesley, J. S.; Ozols, R. F.; Hamilton, T. C. *Cancer Res.* **1997**, *57*, 850–856.
- (234) Ko, L. J.; Prives, C. Genes Dev. 1996, 10, 1054-1072.
- (235) Levine, A. J. Cell 1997, 88, 323-331.
- (236) Agarwal, M. L.; Taylor, W. R.; Chernov, M. V.; Chernova, O. B.; Stark, G. R. J. Biol. Chem. 1998, 273, 1-4.
- (237) Fan, S.; Smith, M. L.; Rivet, D. J., II; Duba, D.; Zhan, Q.; Kohn, K. W.; Fornace, A. J., Jr.; O'Connor, P. M. Cancer Res. 1995, 55, 1649-1654
- (238) Eliopoulos, A. G.; Kerr, D. J.; Herod, J.; Hodgkins, L.; Krajewski, S.; Reed, J. C.; Young, L. S. Oncogene 1995, 11, 1217–1228.
 (239) De Feudis, P.; Debernardis, D.; Beccaglia, P.; Valenti, M.; Graniela Siré, E.; Arzani, D.; Stanzione, S.; Parodi, S.; D'Incalci, M.; Russo, P.; Broggini, M. Br. J. Cancer 1997, 76, 474–479.
 (240) Zurkha, D. B., Kara, T., Kirangel, S. L. Bras, Netl. Acad. Sci.
- (240) Zamble, D. B.; Jacks, T.; Lippard, S. J. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1998, 95, 6163-6168.
- (241) Ruan, S.; Okcu, M. F.; Ren, J. P.; Chiao, P.; Andreeff, M.; Levin, V.; Zhang, W. Cancer Res. 1998, 58, 1538–1543.
- V.; Zhang, W. Cancer Res. 1998, 58, 1538–1543.
 (242) Fan, S.; Chang, J. K.; Smith, M. L.; Duba, D.; Fornace, A. J., Jr.; O'Connor, P. M. Oncogene 1997, 14, 2127–2136.
 (243) Smith, M. L.; Chen, I.-T.; Zhan, Q.; O'Connor, P. M.; Fornace, A. J., Jr. Oncogene 1995, 10, 1053–1059.
 (244) Smith, M. L.; Kontny, H. U.; Zhan, Q.; Sreenath, A.; O'Connor, P. M.; Fornace, A. J., Jr. Oncogene 1996, 13, 2255–2263.
 (245) Hwang, B. J.; Ford, J. M.; Hanawalt, P. C.; Chu, G. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1999, 96 424–428.
- Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **1999**, *96*, 424–428.
- (246)Oltvai, Z. N.; Milliman, C. L.; Korsmeyer, S. J. Cell 1993, 74, 609-619.
- (247) Shi, B.; Triebe, D.; Kajiji, S.; Iwata, K. K.; Bruskin, A.; Mahajna, J. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1999, 254, 779-785.
- (248) Jones, N. A.; Turner, J.; McIlwrath, A. J.; Brown, R.; Dive, C. Mol. Pharmacol. 1998, 53, 819-826.
- (249) Dole, M.; Nuñez, G.; Merchant, A. K.; Maybaum, J.; Rode, C. K.; Bloch, C. A.; Castle, V. P. *Cancer Res.* **1994**, *54*, 3253–3259.
- (250) Miyashita, T.; Reed, J. C. Blood 1993, 81, 151-157.
- (251) Jayaraman, L.; Moorthy, N. C.; Murthy, K. G. K.; Manley, J. L.; Bustin, M.; Prives, Č. Genes Dev. 1998, 12, 462–472.
- (252) Horikoshi, N.; Usheva, A.; Chen, J.; Levine, A. J.; Weinmann, R.; Shenk, T. *Mol. Cell Biol.* **1995**, *15*, 227–234.
- (253) Zlatanova, J.; Yaneva, J.; Leuba, S. H. FASEB J. 1998, 12, 791-799
- (254) Chu, G.; Chang, E. Science 1988, 242, 564–567.
 (255) Vaisman, A.; Chaney, S. G. Biochemistry 1995, 34, 105–114.
- (256) Jones, C. J.; Wood, R. D. Biochemistry 1993, 32, 12096-12104.
- Asahina, H.; Kuraoka, I.; Shirakawa, M.; Morita, E. H.; Miura, (257)N.; Miyamoto, I.; Ohtsuka, E.; Okada, Y.; Tanaka, K. Mutat. Res. 1994, 315, 229-237
- (258) Henricksen, L. A.; Umbricht, C. B.; Wold, M. S. J. Biol. Chem. 1994, 269, 11121-11132.
- (259) Clugston, C. K.; McLaughlin, K.; Kenny, M. K.; Brown, R. Cancer (250) Ougstin, O. R., 10224051, 2017
 Res. 1992, *52*, 6375–6379.
 (260) Patrick, S. M.; Turchi, J. J. *Biochemistry* 1998, *37*, 8808–8815.
- (261) Patrick, S. M.; Turchi, J. J. J. Biol. Chem. 1999, 274, 14972-14978.
- (262) He, Z.; Henricksen, L. A.; Wold, M. S.; Ingles, C. J. Nature 1995, 374, 566-569.
- (263) Kuraoka, I.; Morita, E. H.; Saijo, M.; Matsuda, T.; Morikawa, K.; Shirakawa, M.; Tanaka, K. Mutat. Res. 1996, 362, 87-95.
- (264) Nagai, A.; Saijo, M.; Kuraoka, I.; Matsuda, T.; Kodo, N.; Nakatsu, Y.; Mimaki, T.; Mino, M.; Biggerstaff, M.; Wood, R. D.; Sijbers, A.; Hoeijmakers, J. H. J.; Tanaka, K. *Biochem. Biophys. Res.* Commun. 1995, 211, 960-966.
- (265) Turchi, J. J.; Henkels, K. J. Biol. Chem. 1996, 271, 13861-13867.
- (266) Turchi, J. J.; Patrick, S. M.; Henkels, K. M. Biochemistry 1997, 36, 7586-7593.
- (267) Fox, M. E.; Feldman, B. J.; Chu, G. Mol. Cell. Biol. 1994, 14, 8071-8077.
- (268)Özer, Z.; Reardon, J. T.; Hsu, D. S.; Malhotra, K.; Sancar, A. Biochemistry 1995, 34, 15886-15889.
- Murchie, A. I. H.; Lilley, D. M. J. J. Mol. Biol. 1993, 233, 77-(269)
- (270) Kašpárková, J.; Brabec, V. Biochemistry 1995, 34, 12379-12387.

- (271) Toney, J. H.; Donahue, B. A.; Kellett, P. J.; Bruhn, S. L.; Essigmann, J. M.; Lippard, S. J. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1989, 86, 8328-8332.
- (272) Donahue, B. A.; Augot, M.; Bellon, S. F.; Trieber, D. K.; Toney, J. H.; Lippard, S. J.; Essigmann, J. M. *Biochemistry* **1990**, *29*, 5872–5880.
- (273) Bruhn, S. L.; Pil, P. M.; Essigmann, J. M.; Housman, D. E.; Lippard, S. J. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **1992**, *89*, 2307–2311.
 (274) Shirakata, M.; Hüppi, K.; Usuda, S.; Okazaki, K.; Yoshida, K.; Sakano, H. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **1991**, *11*, 4528–4536.
 (275) Bruhn, S. L.; Housman, D. E.; Lippard, S. J. *Nucleic Acids Res.*
- 1993, 21, 1643-1646.
- Hughes, E. N.; Engelsberg, B. N.; Billings, P. C. J. Biol. Chem. **1992**, 267, 13520–13527. (276)
- Grosschedl, R.; Giese, K.; Pagel, J. Trends Genet. 1994, 10, 94-(277) 100.
- (278)McA'Nulty, M. M.; Lippard, S. J. In Nucleic Acids and Molecular Biology, Eckstein, F., Lilley, D. M. J., Eds.; Springer-Verlag: Berlin, 1995; Vol. 9, pp 264–284. Whitehead, J. P.; Lippard, S. J. In *Metal Ions in Biological*
- (279)Systems; Sigel, A., Sigel, H., Eds.; Marcel Dekker: New York, 1996; Vol. 32, pp 687–726. (280) Pil, P. M.; Lippard, S. J. *Science* **1992**, *256*, 234–237.
- (281)Billings, P. C.; Davis, R. J.; Engelsberg, B. N.; Skov, K. A.; Hughes, E. N. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1992, 188, 1286-1294.
- (282) Turchi, J. J.; Li, M.; Henkels, K. M. Biochemistry 1996, 35, 2992-3000.
- (283) Brown, S. J.; Kellett, P. J.; Lippard, S. J. Science 1993, 261, 603-605
- (284) Lambert, J. R.; Bilanchone, V. W.; Cumsky, M. G. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1994, 91, 7345-7349.
- (285)McA'Nulty, M. M.; Whitehead, J. P.; Lippard, S. J. Biochemistry **1996**, *35*, 6089-6099.
- Churchhill, M. E. A.; Jones, D. N. M.; Glaser, T.; Hefner, H.; (286)Searles, M. A.; Travers, A. A. EMBO J. 1995, 14, 1264-1275.
- Chow, C. S.; Whitehead, J. P.; Lippard, S. J. Biochemistry 1994, (287)33, 15124-15130.
- (288) Trieber, D. K.; Zhai, X.; Jantzen, H.-M.; Essigmann, J. M. Proc. *Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **1994**, *91*, 5672–5676. Ohndorf, U.-M.; Whitehead, J. P.; Raju, N. L.; Lippard, S. J.
- (289) Biochemistry 1997, 36, 14807-14815
- (290) Trimmer, E. E.; Zamble, D. B.; Lippard, S. J.; Essigmann, J. M. Biochemistry 1998, 37, 352-362.
- Fleck, O.; Kunz, C.; Rudolph, C.; Kohli, J. J. Biol. Chem. 1998, (291)273, 30398-30405.
- Chow, C. S.; Barnes, C. M.; Lippard, S. J. *Biochemistry* 1995, 34, 2956–2964. (292)
- (293)Dunham, S. U.; Lippard, S. J. Biochemistry 1997, 36, 11428-11436.
- Locker, D.; Decoville, M.; Maurizot, J. C.; Bianchi, M. E.; Leng, M. J. Mol. Biol. **1995**, 246, 243–247. Ohndorf, U.-M.; Rould, M. A.; He, Q.; Pabo, C. O.; Lippard, S. J. Nature **1999**, 399, 708–712. (294)
- (295)
- (296)
- Suck, D.; Lahm, A.; Oefner, C. *Nature* **1988**, *332*, 464–468. Lomonossoff, G. P.; Butler, P. J. G.; Klug, A. *J. Mol. Biol.* **1981**, (297)149, 745-760.
- Lawrence, D. L.; Engelsberg, B. N.; Farid, R. S.; Hughes, E. N.; Billings, P. C. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1993**, *268*, 23940–23945. Farid, R. S.; Bianchi, M. E.; Falciola, L.; Engelsberg, B. N.; (298)
- (299)Billings, P. C. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 1996, 141, 532-539. Read, C. M.; Cary, P. D.; Crane-Robinson, C.; Driscoll, P. C.;
- (300)Norman, D. G. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **1993**, *21*, 3427–3436. Weir, H. M.; Kraulis, P. J.; Hill, C. S.; Raine, A. R. C.; Laue, E.
- (301)D.; Thomas, J. O. EMBO J. 1993, 12, 1311-1319.
- (302)Hardman, C. H.; Broadhurst, R. W.; Raine, A. R. C.; Grasser, K. D.; Thomas, J. O.; Laue, E. D. Biochemistry 1995, 34, 16596-16607.
- (303) Werner, M. H.; Huth, J. R.; Gronenborn, A. M.; Clore, G. M. Cell 1995, 81, 705-714.
- Love, J. J.; Li, X.; Case, D. A.; Giese, K.; Grosschedl, R.; Wright, (304) P. E. *Nature* **1995**, *376*, 791–795. (305) Allain, F. H.-T.; Yen, Y.-M.; Masse, J. E.; Schultze, P.; Dieck-
- mann, T.; Johnson, R. C.; Feigon, J. EMBO J. 1999, 18, 2563-2579.
- (306) Berners-Price, S. J.; Corazza, A.; Guo, Z.; Barnham, K. J.; Sadler, P. J.; Ohyama, Y.; Leng, M.; Locker, D. Eur. J. Biochem. 1997, 243, 782–791.
- (307) Jamieson, E. R.; Jacobson, M. P.; Barnes, C. M.; Chow, C. S.; Lippard, S. J. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1999**, *274*, 12346–12354. (308) Vichi, P.; Coin, F.; Renaud, J.-P.; Vermeulen, W.; Hoeijmakers,
- J. H. J.; Moras, D.; Egly, J.-M. *EMBO J.* **1997**, *16*, 7444–7456. Jordan, P.; Carmo-Fonseca, M. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **1998**, *26*, (309) 2831-2836
- (310) McA'Nulty, M. M.; Lippard, S. J. Mutat. Res. 1996, 362, 75-86.
- (311) Li, L.; Liu, X.; Glassman, A. B.; Keating, M. J.; Stros, M.; Plunkett, W.; Yang, L.-Y. *Cancer Res.* **1997**, *57*, 1487–1494.
 (312) Orphanides, G.; Wu, W.-H.; Lane, W. S.; Hampsey, M.; Reinberg,
- D. Nature 1999, 400, 284-288.

- (313) Chao, J. C.; Wan, X. S.; Engelsberg, B. N.; Rothblum, L. I.; Billings, P. C. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1996**, *1307*, 213-219.
 (314) Zamble, D. B.; Eng, C. H.; Sandman, K. E.; Lippard, S. J.
- Unpublished results.
- (315) Arioka, H.; Nishio, K.; Ishida, T.; Fukumoto, H.; Fukuoka, K.; Nomoto, T.; Kurokawa, H.; Yokote, H.; Abe, S.; Saijo, N. *Jpn. J. Cancer Res.* **1999**, *90*, 108–115.
 (316) Chau, K. Y.; Lam, H. Y. P.; Lee, K. L. D. *Exp. Cell Res.* **1998**, *241*, 269–272.

- (317) He, Q.; Liang, C. H.; Lippard, S. J. Unpublished results. (318) Coin, F.; Frit, P.; Viollet, B.; Salles, B.; Egly, J.-M. *Mol. Cell* Biol. 1998, 18, 3907-3914.
- (319) Parvin, J. D.; McCormick, R. J.; Sharp, P. A.; Fisher, D. E. Nature 1995, 373, 724-727.
 (320) Grove, A.; Galeone, A.; Yu, E.; Mayol, L.; Geiduschek, E. P. J. Med. Biol. 1009, 602, 721, 720.
- Mol. Biol. 1998, 282, 731-739.
- (321) Ise, T.; Nagatani, G.; Imamura, T.; Kato, K.; Takano, H.; Nomoto, M.; Izumi, H.; Ohmori, H.; Okamoto, T.; Ohga, T.; Uchiumi, T.; Kuwano, M.; Kohno, K. Cancer Res. 1999, 59, 342-346.

- (322) Hasegawa, S. L.; Doetsch, P. W.; Hamilton, K. K.; Martin, A. M.; Okenquist, S. A.; Lenz, J.; Boss, J. M. Nucleic Acids Res. 1991, 19, 4915–4920.
- (323) Ohga, T.; Koike, K.; Ono, M.; Makino, Y.; Itagaki, Y.; Tanimoto, M.; Kuwano, M.; Kohno, K. Cancer Res. 1996, 56, 4224-4228.
- (324) Yaneva, J.; Leuba, S. H.; van Holde, K.; Zlatanova, J. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1997, 94, 13448-13451.
- (325) Paneva, E. G.; Spassovska, N. C.; Grancharov, K. C.; Zlatanova, J. S.; Yaneva, J. N. Z. Naturforsch. 1998, 53c, 135-138.
- (326) Zlatanova, J.; van Holde, K. J. Cell. Sci. 1992, 103, 889-895.
- (327) Zlatanova, J.; van Holde, K. BioEssays 1998, 20, 584-588.
- (328) Lavery, R.; Sklenar, H. J. Biomol. Struct. Dyn. 1988, 6, 63-91.
- (329) Kraulis, P. J. J. Appl. Crystallogr. 1991, 24, 946-950.
- (330) Alberts, B.; Bray, D.; Lewis, J.; Raff, M.; Roberts, K.; Watson, J. D. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 2nd ed.; Garland Publishing: New York, 1989.

CR980421N